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INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS
As used in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, the terms “Histogenics,” “Company,” “registrant,” “we,” “us,” and “our” mean Histogenics Corporation
and its subsidiaries unless the context indicates otherwise. This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q contains “forward-looking statements” that involve
substantial risks and uncertainties. All statements other than statements of historical facts contained in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, including
statements regarding our future results of operations and financial position, strategy and plans, and our expectations for future operations, are forwardlooking statements within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, as amended. The words “anticipate,” “believe,” “contemplates,” “continue,” “could,” “design,” “estimate,” “expect,” “intend,” “likely,” “may,”
“ongoing,” “plan,” “potential,” “predict,” “project,” “will,” “would,” “seek,” “should,” “target,” or the negative version of these words and similar
expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements about:
•

our ability to satisfy the required conditions and otherwise complete our planned merger (the “Merger”), with Ocugen, Inc.
(“Ocugen”), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and Reorganization, dated April 5, 2019 (the “Merger Agreement”), by
and among the Company, Restore Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and Ocugen, on a timely basis or
at all;

•

the expected benefits and potential value created by the proposed Merger for our stockholders, including the ownership percentage
of our stockholders in the combined organization immediately following the consummation of the proposed Merger if it is
completed;

•

our ability to maintain our operations and obtain additional funding for our operations, if necessary, until the consummation of the
proposed Merger;

•

our ability to establish and maintain development and commercialization partnerships;

•

our ability to protect our intellectual property and operate our business without infringing upon the intellectual property rights of
others;

•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses, capital requirements and need for additional financing;

•

our ability to retain key personnel and consultants;

•

regulatory developments in the United States and foreign countries; and

•

our estimates regarding the sufficiency of our cash resources, expenses, including those related to the consummation of the
proposed Merger, capital requirements and needs for additional financing, and our ability to obtain additional financing and to
continue as a going concern if the Merger is not completed.

Any forward-looking statements in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q reflect our current views with respect to future events or to our future financial
performance and involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, performance or achievements to
be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that
may cause actual results to differ materially from current expectations include, among other things, those described in the sections titled “Risk Factors”
and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and those
described in the sections titled “Risk Factors” and “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on March 22, 2019. Given these uncertainties, you should not place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements. We specifically disclaim any obligation to update these forward-looking statements in the future,
except as required by law.
HISTOGENICS (and design), our logo design and NEOCART are our registered trademarks, and BIOCART is our trademark. Any other trademarks,
registered marks and trade names appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of their respective holders. All other trademarks,
trade names and service marks appearing in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q are the property of their respective owners.
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HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except share and per share data)

ASSETS
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net
Other assets, long-term
Restricted cash
Total assets

March 31,
2019
(Unaudited)

December 31,
2018

$

7,376
764
8,140
135
6,426
137
14,838

$

1,100
99
1,118
—
—
2,317
1,125
6,918
10,000
—
—
10
20,370

$

$

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Accrued lease liability – current portion
Current portion of deferred rent
Current portion of deferred lease incentive
Total current liabilities:
Accrued expenses due to Intrexon Corporation
Accrued lease liability – long-term
Deferred revenue
Deferred rent, net of current portion
Deferred lease incentive, net of current portion
Warrant liability
Total liabilities
Commitments and contingencies (Note 5)

$

$

15,542
858
16,400
141
750
137
17,428

1,590
1,000
—
45
238
2,873
1,125
—
10,000
351
1,025
2,512
17,886

Convertible preferred stock and stockholders’ deficit:
Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value; 30,000 shares authorized, 400 shares issued and outstanding at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018
Common stock, $0.01 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized, 94,599,601 and 62,025,398 shares issued
and outstanding at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated deficit
Total stockholders’ deficit
Total liabilities and stockholders’ deficit
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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—
839
219,874
(226,245)
(5,532)
$ 14,838

—
513
215,859
(216,830)
(458)
$
17,428
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HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share data)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018

Revenue
Operating expenses:
Research and development
General and administrative
Restructuring
Loss on asset impairment
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Other income (expense):
Interest income, net
Other expense, net
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Total other income (expense), net
Net loss

$

—

$

—

1,583
2,929
2,789
750
8,051
(8,051)

3,286
2,807
—
—
6,093
(6,093)

$

48
(5)
(1,407)
(1,364)
(9,415)

$

37
(24)
(8,753)
(8,740)
(14,833)

Comprehensive loss

$

(9,415)

$

(14,833)

Net loss attributable to common stockholders—basic and diluted

$

(9,394)

$

(14,370)

Net loss per common share—basic and diluted

$

(0.12)

$

Weighted-average shares used to compute net loss per common share—basic and diluted
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements.
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HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK AND STOCKHOLDERS’ DEFICIT
(unaudited)
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)
Series A
Convertible
Preferred Stock
$0.01 Par Value
Shares
Amount

Balance at December 31, 2018
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of warrants
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2019
Balance at December 31, 2017
Stock-based compensation expense
Exercise of common stock options
Issuance of common stock – net
Fees related to issuance of common stock
Conversion of convertible preferred stock
Net loss
Balance at March 31, 2018

400
—
—
—
400
4,605
—
—
—
—
(3,204)
—
1,401

Common Stock
$0.01 Par Value
Shares
Amount

Additional
Paid-In
Capital

Accumulated
Deficit

Total
Stockholders’
Deficit

$ —
—
—
—
$ —

62,025,398
—
32,574,203
—
94,599,601

$ 513
—
326
—
$ 839

$215,859
107
3,908
—
$219,874

$ (216,830)
—
—
(9,415)
$ (226,245)

$

(458)
107
4,234
(9,415)
(5,532)

$ —
—
—
—
—
—
—
$ —

24,571,029
—
919
2,691,494
—
1,423,970
—
28,687,412

$ 159
—
—
27
—
—
—
$ 186

$196,760
403
2
5,842
(243)
—
—
$202,764

$ (208,187)
—
—
—
—
—
(14,833)
$ (223,020)

$

(11,268)
403
2
5,869
(243)
—
(14,833)
(20,070)

See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements
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HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(unaudited)
(in thousands)
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Depreciation
Loss on asset impairment
Deferred rent and lease incentive
Stock-based compensation
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Other assets and accrued lease obligations, net
Accounts payable
Accrued expenses
Deferred revenue
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES:
Purchases of property and equipment
Proceeds from maturities of marketable securities
Net cash used in investing activities
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES:
Repayments on equipment term loan
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock
Expenses incurred for at-the-market sales agreement of common stock
Proceeds from exercise of warrants
Proceeds from exercise of stock options
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash—Beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents and restricted cash—End of period
Reconciliation of cash, cash equivalents and restricted cash reported within the consolidated balance sheets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Total cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash at the end of period
Supplemental cash flow disclosures from investing and financing activities:
Right-of-use assets and lease liability recorded upon adoption of ASC 842
Purchases of property and equipment in accounts payable and accrued expenses
Public offering costs in accounts payable
See accompanying notes to unaudited consolidated financial statements
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$

$
$

(9,415)

$

(14,833)

6
750
—
107
1,407

172
—
853
403
8,753

94
(49)
(491)
(901)
—
(8,492)

(664)
(375)
586
(1,609)
10,000
3,286

—
—
—

(1,255)
900
(355)

—
—
—
326
—
326
(8,166)
15,679
7,513

$

(133)
5,732
(106)
—
2
5,495
8,426
7,218
15,644

$

$

7,376
137
7,513

$

15,507
137
15,644

$
$
$

6,635
—
—

$
$
$

—
905
106
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HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(unaudited)
1. NATURE OF BUSINESS
Organization
Histogenics Corporation (the “Company”) was incorporated under the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts on June 28, 2000 and has its
principal operations in Waltham, Massachusetts. In 2006, the Company’s board of directors approved a corporate reorganization pursuant to which the
Company incorporated as a Delaware corporation. The Company historically focused on the development of restorative cell therapies (“RCTs”). RCTs
refer to a new class of products that are designed to offer patients rapid-onset pain relief and restored function through the repair of damaged or worn
tissue. The Company’s lead product, NeoCart ®, is an innovative cell therapy designed to treat tissue injury in the field of orthopedics, specifically
cartilage damage in the knee. In the third quarter of 2018, the Company announced that its Phase 3 clinical trial of NeoCart did not meet the primary
endpoint in the Phase 3 clinical trial. Histogenics subsequently initiated a dialogue with the United States Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) to
discuss the regulatory path forward for NeoCart with a goal of determining whether the FDA would accept a submission of a Biologics License
Application (“BLA”) for NeoCart without data from an additional Phase 3 clinical trial. In December 2018, the Company received final feedback from
the FDA indicating the need for an additional Phase 3 clinical trial prior to the FDA’s acceptance of a NeoCart BLA submission. However, considering
the time and funding required to conduct such a trial, the Company discontinued the development of NeoCart and is not planning to submit a BLA.
In connection with the decision to discontinue the development of NeoCart, the Company’s board of directors engaged a financial advisory firm to
help explore its available strategic alternatives, including possible mergers and business combinations, a sale of part or all of its assets, and
collaboration and licensing arrangements. On April 8, 2019, the Company and Ocugen, Inc. (“Ocugen”) announced entering into the Merger
Agreement. Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction of the conditions described in the Merger Agreement, including approval of the transaction
by our stockholders and Ocugen’s stockholders, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be merged with and into Ocugen, with Ocugen
surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
The proposed Merger is structured as a stock-for-stock transaction whereby all of Ocugen’s outstanding shares of common stock and securities
convertible into or exercisable for Ocugen’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive the Company’s common stock and securities
convertible into or exercisable for the Company’s common stock. Under the exchange ratio formula in the Merger Agreement, the former Ocugen
equity holders immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 90% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics, and the
stockholders of Histogenics immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics
subject to certain adjustments as described in the Merger Agreement. These adjustments include additional potential ownership based on Histogenics’
cash at the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) after taking into account, among other things as set forth in the Merger Agreement, any Ocugen
convertible notes that are not converted into equity at the Closing and proceeds from any Divestiture Transactions (as defined in the Merger
Agreement), and may result in up to an additional 5% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics. The exchange ratio formula includes Ocugen’s
outstanding stock options and warrants and Histogenics’ outstanding stock options, warrants and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.
At the effective time of the Merger (the “Effective Time”), the Company’s board of directors is expected to consist solely of members designated by
Ocugen. Following the Closing, Shankar Musunuri is expected to serve as Histogenics’ Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer and Susan
L. Drexler is expected to serve as the Company’s Interim Chief Financial Officer. Also at the Effective Time, the Company will effect a name change to
“Ocugen, Inc.” and it is anticipated that trading for Ocugen’s securities will be listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “OCGN.”
The Merger Agreement contains customary representations, warranties and covenants made by the Company and Ocugen, including covenants relating
to obtaining the requisite approvals of the stockholders of the Company and Ocugen, indemnification of directors and officers, and the Company’s and
Ocugen’s conduct of their respective businesses between the date of signing of the Merger Agreement and the Closing.
In connection with the Merger, the Company will prepare and file with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) a registration statement
on Form S-4 that will contain a prospectus and a proxy statement, and will seek the approval of the Company’s stockholders with respect to certain
actions, including the following (collectively, the “Histogenics Stockholder Matters”):
•

the Merger Agreement, including the issuance of shares of Histogenics common stock to the Ocugen’s stockholders in connection with the
transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement;

•

the amendment of Histogenics’ restated certificate of incorporation to effect a reverse split of all outstanding shares of the Company’s
common stock at a reverse stock split ratio as mutually agreed to by Histogenics and Ocugen; and

•

the change of control of the Company resulting from the Merger pursuant to pertinent Nasdaq rules.

The Closing is subject to satisfaction or waiver of certain conditions including, among other things, (i) the required approvals by the parties’
stockholders, (ii) the accuracy of the representations and warranties, subject to certain materiality qualifications, (iii) compliance by the parties with
their respective covenants, (iv) no law or order preventing the Merger and related transactions, and (v) the listing of the Shares on The Nasdaq Capital
Market.
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The Merger Agreement contains certain termination rights for both Histogenics and Ocugen, and further provides that, upon termination of the Merger
Agreement under specified circumstances, Histogenics may be required to pay to Ocugen a termination fee of $0.6 million or Ocugen may be required
to pay to Histogenics a termination fee of $0.7 million, and in other circumstances each party may be required to reimburse the other party’s expenses
incurred, up to a maximum of $0.3 million.
In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the executive officers and directors of the Company entered into voting agreements with
Ocugen and Histogenics relating to the Merger covering less than one percent of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics, as of date of the Merger
Agreement (the “Histogenics Voting Agreements”). The Histogenics Voting Agreements provide, among other things, that the stockholders who are
parties to the Histogenics Voting Agreements will vote all of the shares held by them in favor of Histogenics Stockholder Matters and against any
competing acquisition proposals. The Histogenics Voting Agreements also place certain restrictions on the transfer of the shares of Histogenics held by
the respective signatories thereto.
In connection with the execution of the Merger Agreement, certain officers, directors, stockholders and noteholders of Ocugen entered into voting
agreements with Histogenics and Ocugen covering approximately 68% of the outstanding capital stock of Ocugen as of date of the Merger Agreement
(the “Ocugen Voting Agreements”). The Ocugen Voting Agreements provide, among other things, that the officers, stockholders and investors party to
the Ocugen Voting Agreements will vote all of the shares of Ocugen held by them in favor of the adoption of the Merger Agreement, the approval of
the Merger and the other transactions contemplated by the Merger Agreement and against any competing acquisition proposals. The Ocugen Voting
Agreements also place certain restrictions on the transfer of the shares of Ocugen held by the respective signatories thereto.
Concurrently with the execution of the Merger Agreement, the officers and directors of Histogenics and the officers, directors and certain stockholders
of Ocugen entered into lock-up agreements), pursuant to which they accepted certain restrictions on transfers of any shares of Histogenics’ common
stock for the 180-day period following the Effective Time.
Although the Company has entered into the Merger Agreement and intends to consummate the proposed Merger, there is no assurance that it will be
able to successfully consummate the proposed Merger on a timely basis, or at all. If, for any reason, the proposed Merger is not completed, Histogenics
will reconsider its strategic alternatives and could pursue one or more of the following courses of action:
•

Pursue potential collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements for our NeoCart assets, including a sale or other
divestiture. Although Histogenics has discontinued further development of the NeoCart program and does not currently have any plans to
resume the development of NeoCart, the Company continues to seek potential collaborative, partnering or other strategic arrangements for
the NeoCart assets, including a sale or other divestiture of such assets.

•

Pursue another strategic transaction like the proposed Merger. The Company’s board of directors may elect to pursue an alternative
strategy, one of which may be a strategic transaction similar to the proposed Merger.

•

Dissolve and liquidate the Company’s assets. If, for any reason, the proposed Merger is not consummated and the Company is unable to
identify and complete an alternative strategic transaction like the Merger or potential collaborative, partnering or other strategic
arrangements for the NeoCart assets, the Company may be required to dissolve and liquidate its assets. In such case, Histogenics would be
required to pay all of its debts and contractual obligations, and to set aside certain reserves for potential future claims, and there can be no
assurances as to the amount or timing of available cash left to distribute to stockholders after paying debts and other obligations and
setting aside funds for reserves.

Since its inception, the Company has devoted substantially all of its efforts to product development, recruiting management and technical staff, raising
capital, starting up production and building infrastructure and has not yet generated product revenues. Expenses have primarily been for research and
development and related administrative costs.
The Company is subject to a number of risks including the successful development of therapeutics, the ability to obtain adequate financing, the ability
to obtain FDA approval and reimbursement for any products we may develop, protection of intellectual property, fluctuations in operating results,
dependence on key personnel and collaborative partners, rapid technological changes inherent in the target markets of any products the Company may
develop, the introduction of substitute products and competition from larger companies.
Liquidity
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which contemplates the realization of assets and the satisfaction of
liabilities in the normal course of business. As shown in the accompanying consolidated financial statements, the Company has incurred losses and
cash flow deficits from operations since inception, resulting in an accumulated deficit at March 31, 2019 of $226.2 million. The Company has financed
operations to date primarily through public and private placements of equity securities, and borrowings under debt agreements. The Company
anticipates that it will continue to incur net losses for the foreseeable future. The Company believes that its existing cash, cash equivalents and
marketable securities will only be sufficient to fund its projected cash needs into the middle of 2019. Accordingly,
9
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these factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and its ability to complete the
proposed merger with Ocugen. If Histogenics needs to raise additional capital to complete the merger, the Company would need to raise additional
capital through debt or equity financing or other strategic transactions. However, any such financing may not be on favorable terms or available to the
Company. The failure of the Company to obtain sufficient funds on commercially acceptable terms when needed will have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business, results of operations and financial condition. The forecast of cash resources is forward-looking information that involves risks
and uncertainties, and the actual amount of our expenses could vary materially and adversely as a result of a number of factors. The Company has
based its estimates on assumptions that may prove to be wrong, and the Company’s expenses could prove to be significantly higher than it currently
anticipates.
Basis of Accounting
The consolidated financial statements are unaudited and have been prepared in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America (“GAAP”). However, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by GAAP for complete financial
statements. These interim consolidated financial statements, in the opinion of the Company’s management, reflect all normal recurring adjustments
necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position and results of operations for the interim periods ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
The results of operations for the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results of operations to be expected for the full year. These interim
financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the notes
thereto, which are included in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) on
March 22, 2019.
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries, ProChon and Histogenics Securities
Corporation. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions are eliminated in consolidation.
2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
During the three months ended March 31, 2019, there have been no material changes to the significant accounting policies described in the
Company’s audited financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2018, and the notes thereto, which are included in the Annual
Report on Form 10-K, except as noted below.
Recently Adopted Accounting Standards - Leases
The Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Accounting Standards Update No. 2016-02, Leases (Topic 842) on January 1, 2019,
using the alternative modified transition method, which requires a cumulative-effect adjustment, if any, to the opening balance of retained earnings to
be recognized on the date of adoption with no restatement of prior periods not restated. There was no cumulative-effect adjustment recorded on
January 1, 2019. Please see Note 5 – Commitments and Contingencies for a description of the Company’s Leases and related impact on the financial
statements.
The Company elected the following practical expedients when assessing the transition impact of the new standard from both the lessee and lessor
perspective and did not: (i) reassess whether any expired or existing contracts as of January 1, 2019, are or contain leases; (ii) reassess the lease
classification for any expired or existing leases as of January 1, 2019; (iii) reassess initial direct costs for any existing leases as of January 1, 2019; and
(iv) reassess whether land easements meet the definition of a lease. The primary impact was the balance sheet recognition of right-of-use (“ROU”) assets
which is included in Other assets and lease liabilities for operating leases as a lessee.
Fair Value Measurements
The carrying amounts reported in the Company’s consolidated financial statements for cash and cash equivalents, accounts payable, and accrued
liabilities approximate their respective fair values because of the short-term nature of these accounts.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received if selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in the principal or most advantageous market for
the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants on the measurement date.
Additionally, from time to time, the Company may be required to record at fair value other assets on a nonrecurring basis, such as assets held for sale
and certain other assets. These nonrecurring fair value adjustments typically involve the application of lower-of-cost-or-market accounting or writedowns of individual assets.
The fair value hierarchy gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical assets (Level 1), and the lowest priority to
unobservable inputs (Level 3). The Company’s financial assets are classified within the fair value hierarchy based on the lowest level of inputs that is
significant to the fair value measurement. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy, and their applicability to the Company’s financial assets, are
described below.
Level 1 : Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date of identical, unrestricted assets.
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Level 2 : Quoted prices for similar assets, or inputs that are observable, either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term through corroboration
with observable market data. Level 2 includes investments valued at quoted prices adjusted for legal or contractual restrictions specific to the security.
Level 3 : Pricing inputs are unobservable for the assets. Level 3 assets include private investments that are supported by little or no market activity.
Level 3 valuations are for instruments that are not traded in active markets or are subject to transfer restrictions and may be adjusted to reflect
illiquidity and/or non-transferability, with such adjustment generally based on available market evidence. In the absence of such evidence,
management’s best estimate is used.
An adjustment to the pricing method used within either Level 1 or Level 2 inputs could generate a fair value measurement that effectively falls in a
lower level in the hierarchy. The Company had no material re-measurements of fair value with respect to financial assets and liabilities, during the
periods presented, other than those assets and liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring basis. At March 31, 2019, the only assets or
liabilities classified as Level 3 were the outstanding warrants issued in connection with the private placement transaction which closed on
September 29, 2016. At December 31, 2018 the Company’s only assets or liabilities classified as level 3 were the warrants issued in connection with
the September 2016 private placement and the October 2018 underwritten public offering. Transfers are calculated using values as of the transfer date.
There were no transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3 during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and the twelve months ended December 31, 2018.
The fair value of the warrants issued in connection with the September 2016 private placement was determined using a Monte Carlo simulation model.
This model incorporated several assumptions at each valuation date including: the price of the Company’s common stock on the date of valuation, the
historical volatility of the price of the Company’s common stock, the remaining contractual term of the warrant and estimates of the probability of a
fundamental transaction occurring. The fair value of the warrants issued in connection with the October 2018 underwritten public offering was
determined using the Black Scholes model. See Note 6, Capital Stock, for further discussion of the private placement and underwritten public offering.
The Company’s financial instruments as of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 consisted primarily of cash and cash equivalents and warrant
liability. As of March 31, 2019, and December 31, 2018, the Company’s financial assets recognized at fair value consisted of the following:

Description

Total

Significant
Quoted
other
prices in
observable
active markets
inputs
(Level 1)
(Level 2)
(in thousands)

Significant
unobservable
inputs
(Level 3)

March 31, 2019
Assets:
Cash Equivalents
Money market funds

$4,747

$

4,747

$

—

$

Liabilities:
Warrant liability

$

10

$

—

$

—

$

December 31, 2018
Assets:
Cash Equivalents
Money market funds

$9,711

$

9,711

$

—

$

—

Liabilities:
Warrant liability

$2,512

$

—

$

—

$

2,512

The following table provides a reconciliation of all liabilities measured at fair value using Level 3 significant unobservable inputs:
March 31, 2019
(in thousands)

Beginning balance, December 31, 2018
Exercise of warrants
Change in fair value of warrant liability
Ending balance

$

$
11

2,512
(1,095)
(1,407)
10

—
10
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Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid securities with original maturities of three months or less from the date of purchase to be cash equivalents.
Cash and cash equivalents are comprised of funds in money market accounts. In addition, the Company has recorded restricted cash of $0.1 million as
of March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Restricted cash consists of a security deposit related to a lease obligation.
Revenue Recognition
In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (the “FASB”) issued a new standard related to revenue recognition, Accounting Standard
Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers. This new accounting standard will replace most current U.S. GAAP guidance
on this topic and eliminate most industry-specific guidance. It provides a unified model to determine when and how revenue is recognized. The core
principle is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the
consideration for which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. Entities may adopt the new standard either
retrospectively to all periods presented in the financial statements (the full retrospective method) or as a cumulative-effect adjustment as of the date of
adoption (modified retrospective method) in the year of adoption without applying to comparative years’ financial statements. Further, in August
2015, the FASB issued ASU No. 2015-14, Revenue from Contracts with Customers: Deferral of the Effective Date, to defer the effective adoption date
by one year to December 15, 2017 for annual reporting periods beginning after that date and permitted early adoption of the standard, but not before
fiscal years beginning after the original effective date of December 15, 2016. The Company elected to early adopt the guidance in 2017 using the
modified retrospective method. There was no cumulative impact due to the adoption of this standard.
Revenue is recognized when, or as, performance obligations are satisfied, which occurs when control of the promised products or services is transferred
to customers. Revenue is measured as the amount of consideration the Company expects to receive in exchange for transferring products or services to
a customer (“transaction price”). To the extent that the transaction price includes variable consideration, the Company estimates the amount of variable
consideration that should be included in the transaction price utilizing the most likely amount method. Variable consideration is included in the
transaction price if, in the Company’s judgment, it is probable that a significant future reversal of cumulative revenue under the contract will not
occur. Estimates of variable consideration and determination of whether to include estimated amounts in the transaction price are based largely on an
assessment of the Company’s anticipated performance and all information (historical, current and forecasted) that is reasonably available.
If the contract contains a single performance obligation, the entire transaction price is allocated to the single performance obligation. Contracts that
contain multiple performance obligations require an allocation of the transaction price to each performance obligation based on a relative standalone
selling price basis unless the transaction price is variable and meets the criteria to be allocated entirely to a performance obligation or to a distinct
service that forms part of a single performance obligation. The Company currently generates revenue primarily through collaborative research,
development and commercialization agreements. The terms of these agreements may contain multiple promises which may include: (i) licenses to the
Company’s technology; (ii) services related to the transfer and update of know-how; and (iii) manufacturing supply services. Payments to the Company
under these arrangements typically include one or more of the following: non-refundable upfront license fees; milestone payments; royalties on future
product sales; and fees for manufacturing supply services. None of the Company’s contracts as of March 31, 2019 contained a significant financing
component.
The Company assesses the promises to determine if they are distinct performance obligations. Once the performance obligations are determined, the
transaction price is allocated based on a relative standalone selling price basis. Milestone payments and royalties are typically considered variable
consideration at the outset of the contract and are recognized in the transaction price either upon occurrence or when the constraint of a probable
reversal is no longer applicable.
Collaboration Revenue
While no revenue has been recognized as of March 31, 2018, the Company has collaboration and license agreements with strategic partners for the
development and commercialization of product candidates. The collaboration and license agreements are within the scope of Accounting Standards
Codification (ASC 606) Revenue from Contracts with Customers.
In determining the appropriate amount of revenue to be recognized as it fulfills its obligations under the agreements, the Company performs the
following steps: (i) identification of the promised goods or services in the contract; (ii) determination of whether the promised goods or services are
performance obligations including whether they are distinct in the context of the contract; (iii) measurement of the transaction price, including the
constraint on variable consideration; (iv) allocation of the transaction price to the performance obligations; and (v) recognition of revenue when (or as)
the Company satisfies each performance obligation. As part of the accounting for the arrangement, the Company must develop assumptions that
require judgment to determine the stand-alone selling price for each performance obligation identified in the contract. The Company uses key
assumptions to determine the stand-alone selling price, which may include market conditions, reimbursement rates for personnel costs, development
timelines and probabilities of regulatory success.
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Licenses of intellectual property: If the license to the Company’s intellectual property is determined to be distinct from the other performance
obligations identified in the arrangement, the Company recognizes revenues from non-refundable, up-front fees allocated to the license when the
license is transferred to the customer and the customer is able to use and benefit from the license. For licenses that are bundled with other promises, the
Company utilizes judgment to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is
satisfied over time or at a point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of recognizing revenue from
non-refundable, up-front fees. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of
performance and related revenue recognition.
Manufacturing Supply Services: If the promise to supply products for clinical and/or commercial development are determined to be distinct from the
other performance obligations identified in the arrangement, the Company recognizes revenues from the fees allocated to the supply when or as the
supply is transferred to the customer, generally upon delivery to the customer. If the promise to supply products for clinical and/or commercial
development are not determined to be distinct from the other performance obligations identified in the arrangement, the Company utilizes judgement
to assess the nature of the combined performance obligation to determine whether the combined performance obligation is satisfied over time or at a
point in time and, if over time, the appropriate method of measuring progress for purposes of recognizing revenue , including amounts from
non-refundable, up-front fees. The Company evaluates the measure of progress each reporting period and, if necessary, adjusts the measure of
performance and related revenue recognition.
Milestone Payments: At the inception of each arrangement that includes developmental and regulatory milestone payments, the Company evaluates
whether the achievement of each milestone specifically relates to the Company’s efforts to satisfy a performance obligation or transfer a distinct good
or service within a performance obligation. If the achievement of a milestone is considered a direct result of the Company’s efforts to satisfy a
performance obligation or transfer a distinct good or service and the receipt of the payment is based upon the achievement of the milestone, the
associated milestone value is allocated to that distinct good or service and revenue is recognized in the period in which the milestone is achieved. If
the milestone payment is not specifically related to the Company’s effort to satisfy a performance obligation or transfer a distinct good or service, the
Company evaluates the milestone to determine whether the milestone is considered probable of being reached and estimates the amount to be included
in the transaction price using either the most likely amount or the expected value method. If it is probable that a significant revenue reversal would not
occur, the associated milestone value is included in the transaction price to be allocated. At the end of each subsequent reporting period, the Company
re-evaluates the probability of achievement of such development milestones and any related constraint, and if necessary, adjusts its estimate of the
overall allocation. Any such adjustments are recorded on a cumulative catch-up basis, which would affect license, collaboration and other revenues
and earnings in the period of adjustment.
Royalties: For arrangements that include sales-based or usage-based royalties, including milestone payments based on the level of sales, and the
license is deemed to be the predominant item to which the royalties relate, the Company will recognize revenue at the later of: (i) when the related sales
occur; or (ii) when the performance obligation to which some or all of the royalty has been allocated has been satisfied (or partially satisfied).
License and Collaboration Arrangements
MEDINET Co., Ltd.
In December 2017, the Company entered into a License and Commercialization Agreement (the “License Agreement”) with MEDINET Co., Ltd.
(“MEDINET”) to grant MEDINET a license under certain patents, patent applications, know-how, and technology to develop and commercialize
certain therapeutic products to replace or repair damaged, worn, or defective cartilage in humans and non-human animals.
In exchange for the license, MEDINET agreed to pay the Company an upfront cash payment of $10.0 million which the Company received in January
2018. As of March 31, 2019, the contract with MEDINET was wholly unperformed and all revenue under the License Agreement has been deferred and
has not been recognized. As of March 31, 2019, the aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to remaining performance obligations was
$10.0 million. Because the License Agreement was not terminated as of March 31, 2019, the authoritative accounting literature requires that the
$10.0 million of deferred revenue remain a liability on the Company’s balance sheet. The Company anticipates that MEDINET will terminate the
License Agreement in 2019 resulting in the recognition of the $10 million of deferred revenue in the period of termination.
MEDINET also agreed to pay the Company tiered royalties, at percentages ranging from the low single digits to low double digits, of net sales of
MEDINET products governed by the License Agreement. Over the life of the License Agreement, the Company is eligible to receive up to
¥330 million ($2.9 million as of March 31, 2019) in development milestone payments, $1.0 million and ¥720 million ($7.4 million as of March 31,
2019) in regulatory payments and up to an aggregate of ¥7,300 million ($64.1 million as of March 31, 2019) for the achievement of certain commercial
milestones related to the sales of MEDINET products governed by the License Agreement.
As a condition of the License Agreement, the Company agreed to supply NeoCart for MEDINET’s planned Phase 3 clinical trial in Japan. The
Company assessed its promised goods and services under the License Agreement to determine if they are distinct. Due to the unique nature of the
clinical manufacturing services to be provided by the Company, there are currently no other third-party vendors from which MEDINET can obtain such
supply. The Company expected to be the only vendor capable of providing the manufacturing services for a period of at least one
13
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to two years, which is approximately the estimated length of time for the Japanese clinical trial period. After this point, if the Company were to transfer
to a third-party its technology and know-how related to the manufacturing services, the third-party vendor would be capable of providing the
commercial manufacturing services, and therefore MEDINET would be able to choose whether to utilize the Company for such services or another
vendor. The Company determined that MEDINET’s option to obtain commercial manufacturing services does not represent a material right, as the fees
charged to MEDINET by the Company are expected to approximate the fair market value for manufacturing services. As noted, with the assistance of
the Company, third-party vendors could have the capability to perform commercial manufacturing services by this time, and the Company expects the
contract value to approximate the market price. Due to MEDINET’s limitations in obtaining the clinical manufacturing services from a third-party, as
well as MEDINET’s limited ability to obtain the benefits of the licensed intellectual property without the clinical manufacturing services, the licensed
intellectual property and clinical manufacturing services are determined to be a combined performance obligation. Based on this assessment, the
Company determined that the promised goods and services do not have standalone value and are highly interrelated. Accordingly, the promised goods
and services represent one performance obligation.
Based on the assessment of the combined performance obligation, the Company determined that the predominant promise in the arrangement is the
transfer of the license and associated manufacturing know-how expected to occur over the length of the clinical trial. The Company determined that
MEDINET will be simultaneously receiving and consuming the benefits of the Company’s performance related to the supply of the clinical trial.
Therefore, the revenue associated with the combined performance obligation will be recognized over time.
In determining the correct measure of progress to use when recognizing revenue over time, the Company assessed whether an input- or output- based
measure of progress would be appropriate. The Company determined that an output-based measure of progress would be appropriate to use when
recognizing revenue associated with the combined performance obligation and intended to recognize revenue under the License Agreement as the
clinical manufacturing services were performed.
Revenue was to be recognized using the output method over the length of the clinical trial enrollment, as the clinical manufacturing services were
delivered, over the estimated service period. Upon the conclusion of the clinical manufacturing period, the Company would have expected other thirdparty vendors to have the capabilities to provide similar services. At this point, the license would effectively become a distinct performance obligation,
with no remaining undelivered obligations. Therefore, the Company determined that the up-front payment associated with the licensed intellectual
property should be fully recognized by the conclusion of the clinical manufacturing service period.
At contract inception, the Company determined that the $10.0 million non-refundable upfront amount constituted the entirety of the consideration to
be included in the transaction price as the development, regulatory, and commercial milestones represent variable consideration and were fully
constrained. As part of its evaluation of the constraint, the Company considered numerous factors, including that receipt of the milestones is outside
the control of the Company and contingent upon success in future clinical trials and the licensees’ efforts. Any consideration related to sales-based
milestones (including royalties) will be recognized when the related sales occur. The Company re-evaluates the transaction price in each reporting
period and as uncertain events are resolved or other changes in circumstances occur. The Company also determined that consideration associated with
the clinical trials, which are payable by MEDINET on per-patient basis represent variable consideration, will be included in the transaction price upon
occurrence, or once the associated clinical manufacturing service(s) for the patient are concluded.
The Company incurred cost of $0.9 million related to the License Agreement with MEDINET. $0.8 million was recorded as an asset that was to be
expensed proportionally over the performance service period. However, given the Company’s decision to discontinue the development of NeoCart and
terminate its manufacturing operations, the Company concluded that the asset was impaired and a decision was made to write down the value of this
asset to $0 in the first quarter of 2019. This impairment resulted in a charge to the income statement of $0.8 million.
Stock-Based Compensation
The Company accounts for stock options and restricted stock based on their grant date fair value and recognizes compensation expense on a straightline basis over their vesting period. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model, with the exception of stock options that include a market condition, and restricted stock based on the fair value of the underlying
common stock as of the date of grant or the value of the services provided, whichever is more readily determinable. The Company, in conjunction with
adoption of ASU 2016-09- Stock Compensation: Improvements to Employee Share-Based Payment Accounting has elected to estimate forfeitures at
the time of grant, and revise those estimates in subsequent periods if actual forfeitures differ from its estimates. The Company uses historical data to
estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures and records stock-based compensation expense only for those awards that are expected to vest. To the extent
that actual forfeitures differ from the Company’s estimates, the differences are recorded as a cumulative adjustment in the period the estimates were
revised. Stock-based compensation expense is classified as research and development or general and administrative based on the grantee’s respective
compensation classification.
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For stock option grants with vesting triggered by the achievement of performance-based milestones, the expense is recorded over the remaining service
period after the point when the achievement of the milestone is probable or the performance condition has been achieved. For stock option grants with
both performance-based milestones and market conditions, expense is recorded over the derived service period after the point when the achievement of
the performance-based milestone is probable or the performance condition has been achieved. For stock option grants with market conditions, the
expense is calculated using the Monte Carlo model based on the grant date fair value of the option and is recorded on a straight line basis over the
requisite service period, which represents the derived service period and accelerated when the market condition is satisfied. The Company did not issue
awards with market conditions during the three months ended March 31, 2019. The Company accounts for stock options and restricted stock awards to
non-employees using the fair value approach. Stock options and restricted stock awards to non-employees are subject to periodic revaluation over their
vesting terms.
Warrant Accounting
As noted in Note 6, Capital Stock, the Company classifies a warrant to purchase shares of its common stock as a liability on its consolidated balance
sheet if the warrant is a free-standing financial instrument that may require the Company to transfer consideration upon exercise. Each warrant of this
type is initially recorded at fair value on date of grant using the Monte Carlo simulation model net of issuance costs, and is subsequently re-measured
to fair value at each subsequent balance sheet date. Changes in fair value of the warrant are recognized as a component of other income (expense), net
in the consolidated statement of operations and comprehensive loss. The Company will continue to adjust the liability for changes in fair value until
the earlier of the exercise or expiration of the warrant.
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
In November 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-18, Collaborative Arrangements (Topic 808): Clarifying the Interaction between Topic 808 and
Topic 606. The amendments in this update provide guidance on whether certain transactions between collaborative arrangement participants should be
accounted for with revenue under Topic 606. The guidance also provides more comparability in the presentation of revenue for certain transactions
between collaborative arrangement participants. For public business entities, the amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019. Early adoption is permitted, including adoption in any interim period, for public
business entities for periods for which financial statements have not yet been issued. The Company is currently evaluating the impact that the adoption
of this guidance will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related disclosures.
In August 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-13, Fair Value Measurement (Topic 820): Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value
Measurement. The amendments in this update modify the disclosure requirements on fair value measurements based on the concepts in the Concepts
Statement, including the consideration of costs and benefits. The amendments in this update are effective for all entities for fiscal years, and interim
periods within those fiscal years, beginning after December 15, 2019 with early adoption permitted upon issuance of this Update. The Company is
currently evaluating the impact that the adoption of this guidance will have on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and related
disclosures.
In August 2018, the SEC adopted the final rule under SEC Release No. 33-10532, Disclosure Update and Simplification. This final rule amends certain
disclosure requirements that are redundant, duplicative, overlapping, outdated or superseded. In addition, the amendments expand the disclosure
requirements on the analysis of stockholders’ equity for interim financial statements. Under the amendments, an analysis of changes in each caption of
stockholders’ equity presented in the balance sheet must be provided in a note or separate statement. The analysis should present a reconciliation of
the beginning balance to the ending balance of each period for which a statement of comprehensive income is required to be filed. This final rule is
effective for the Company for all filings made on or after November 5, 2018. The SEC staff clarified that the first presentation of the changes in
shareholders’ equity may be included in the first Form 10-Q for the quarter that begins after the effective date of the amendments. The adoption of the
final rule did not have a material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements.
In June 2018, the FASB issued ASU No. 2018-07, Compensation-Stock Compensation (Topic 718): Improvements to Nonemployee Share- Based
Payment Accounting. This update is to simplify the aspects of accounting for nonemployee share-based payment transactions for acquiring goods or
services from nonemployees. The amendments in this update are effective for fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2018, including interim periods
within that year. The Company has concluded that this guidance has no material impact on the Company’s consolidated financial statements and
related disclosures.
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3. LOSS PER COMMON SHARE
The Company computes basic and diluted loss per share using a methodology that gives effect to the impact of outstanding participating securities
(the “two-class method”). For the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there was dilution attributed to the weighted-average shares
outstanding in the calculation of diluted loss per share.
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
(In thousands, except share and per share data)

Numerator:
Net loss
Net loss attributable to Series A Preferred Stock (a)
Income attributable to common stockholders – basic and
diluted

$

(9,415)
(21)

$

(14,833)
(463)

$

(9,394)

$

(14,370)

Denominator:
Weighted-average number of common shares used in loss
per share – basic and diluted
Loss per share - basic and diluted
(a)

80,484,113
$

27,670,118

(0.12)

$

(0.52)

The Series A Preferred Stock participates in income and losses.

The following potentially dilutive securities have been excluded from the computation of diluted weighted-average shares outstanding, as they would
be anti-dilutive (in common stock equivalent shares):
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018

Unvested restricted stock and options to purchase common stock
Series A Preferred Stock unconverted
Warrants exercisable into common stock
16
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177,996
571,025

3,101,143
622,987
13,633,070
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4. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT
Property and equipment consisted of the following:
March 31,
2019

Office equipment
Laboratory equipment
Leasehold improvements
Software
Total property and equipment
Less: accumulated depreciation
Property and equipment, net

December 31,
2018
(in thousands)

$

233
4,536
5,383
96
10,248
(10,113)
$
135

$

$

266
4,561
5,504
96
10,427
(10,286)
141

Depreciation expense related to property and equipment amounted to less than $0.1 million and $0.2 million for the three months ended March 31,
2019 and 2018, respectively.
5. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases
The Company leases its office and research facilities in Waltham and Lexington, Massachusetts under non-cancellable operating leases. The
Lexington, Massachusetts facility lease expires in June 2023. The Waltham, Massachusetts facility lease was extended in April 2017. The effective
date of the extension is January 2018. Under the terms of the extension, the lease will expire in December 2024 with one extension term of five years.
Terms of the agreements generally provide for an initial rent-free period and future rent escalation and provide that in addition to minimum lease rental
payments, the Company is responsible for a pro-rata share of common area operating expenses. Rent expense under operating lease agreements
amounted to approximately $0.4 million for each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
In evaluating any potential accounting for leases, the Company determines if an arrangement contains a lease at inception. For arrangements where the
Company is the lessee, operating leases are included in other assets, net; other accrued liabilities; and other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet. Operating lease ROU assets and operating lease liabilities are recognized based on the present value of the future minimum lease
payments over the lease term at the commencement date. ROU assets also include any initial direct costs incurred and any lease payments made at or
before the lease commencement date, less lease incentives received. The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate based on the information
available at the commencement date in determining the lease liabilities as the Company’s leases generally do not provide an implicit rate. Lease terms
may include options to extend or terminate when the Company is reasonably certain that the option will be exercised. Lease expense is recognized on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. The Company also has lease arrangements with lease and non-lease components. The Company elected the
practical expedient not to separate non-lease components from lease components for the Company’s real estate leases.
Operating lease expense was $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019. Variable executory cost was $0.3 million for the three months
ended March 31, 2019. The following table contains supplemental cash flow information related to operating leases as of March 31, 2019.
(in thousands)

Cash paid within operating cash flows
Right-of-use assets recognized in exchange for new lease obligations
17

$

459
—
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The following table contains supplemental balance sheet information related to operating leases, as of March 31, 2019.
(in thousands)

Other assets, net (Right-of-use assets)
Accrued lease liability, current
Accrued lease liability, long-term
Total lease liabilities

$

6,426

$

1,118
6,918
8,036

Weighted average remaining lease term
Weighted average discount rate

5.3 years
10%

The Company deemed restructurings in the first quarter of 2019 to be a triggering event that necessitated an evaluation of a potential impairment to the
ROU asset related to the Company’s operating leases. Based on the analysis performed no impairment was necessary.
Maturities of the Company’s operating lease liabilities as of March 31, 2019 are summarized in the table below.
Year

Amount
(in thousands)

2019
2020
2021
2022
2023
2024 and after
Total lease payments
Less: imputed interest
Total operating lease liabilities

$

$

1,385
1,892
1,941
1,991
1,729
1,460
10,398
(2,362)
8,036

License Agreements
From time to time, the Company enters into various licensing agreements whereby the Company may use certain technologies in conjunction with its
product research and development. Licensing agreements and the Company’s commitments under the agreements are as follows:
Hydrogel License
In May 2005, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with Angiotech Pharmaceuticals (US), Inc. for the use of certain patents, patent
applications, and knowledge related to the manufacture and use of a hydrogel material in conjunction with NeoCart and certain other products
(“Hydrogel License Agreement”). As of March 31, 2019, the Company has paid an aggregate $3.2 million in commercialization milestones under the
terms of the Hydrogel License Agreement, which have been expensed to research and development.
Under the terms of the Hydrogel License Agreement, the Company’s future commitments include:
•

A one-time $3.0 million payment upon approval of an eligible product by the FDA; and

•

Single digit royalties on the net sales of NeoCart and certain other future products.

Tissue Regeneration License
In April 2001, the Company entered into an exclusive license agreement with The Board of Trustees of the Leland Stanford Junior University
(“Stanford University”) for the use of certain technology to develop, manufacture and sell licensed products in the field of growth and regeneration of
cartilage (“Tissue Regeneration License Agreement”). The term of the Tissue Regeneration License Agreement extends to the expiration date of
Stanford University’s last to expire domestic or foreign patents. As of March 31, 2019, the Company has paid an aggregate $0.8 million in patent
reimbursement costs, royalty fees, and commercialization milestone payments under the terms of the Tissue Regeneration License Agreement, which
have been recorded to research and development expense.
Under the terms of the Tissue Regeneration License Agreement, the Company’s future commitments include:
•

A one-time $0.3 million payment upon approval of an eligible product by the FDA;
18
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•

An annual minimum non-refundable royalty fee of $10 thousand for the life of the license that may be used to offset up to 50% of the
earned royalty below; and

•

Low single digit royalties on net sales.

Tissue Processor Sub-License
In December 2005, the Company entered into an exclusive agreement to sub-license certain technology from Purpose, Co. (“Purpose”), which is owned
by a stockholder of the Company (“Sub-License Agreement”). Purpose entered into the original license agreement (“Original Agreement”) with
Brigham and Women’s Hospital, Inc. (“Brigham and Women’s”) in August 2001. The Original Agreement shall remain in effect for the term of the
licensed patents owned by Brigham and Women’s unless extended or terminated as provided for in the agreement. The technology is to be used to
develop, manufacture, use and sell licensed products that cultivate cell or tissue development. The Sub-License Agreement extends to the expiration
date of the last to expire domestic or foreign patents covered by the agreement. As of March 31, 2019, the Company has paid an aggregate $0.7 million
in royalty and sub-license payments under the terms of the Sub-License Agreement.
The Sub-License Agreement was amended and restated in June 2012. Under the amended and restated agreement, the Company made Purpose the sole
supplier of equipment the Company uses in its manufacturing processes and granted Purpose distribution rights of the Company’s products for certain
territories. In exchange, Purpose allowed for the use of its technology (owned or licensed) and manufactured and serviced exogenous tissue processors
used by the Company. Under the terms of the agreement, as amended, Purpose granted the Company: (a) exclusive rights to all of Purpose’s technology
(owned or licensed) related to the exogenous tissue processors, (b) continued supply of exogenous tissue processors during the Company’s clinical
trials, and (c) rights to manufacture the exogenous tissue processors at any location the Company chooses. In exchange for such consideration, the
Company granted Purpose an exclusive license in Japan for the use of all of the Company’s technology and made a payment of $0.3 million to
reimburse Purpose for development costs on a next generation tissue processor.
In May 2016, the Original Agreement was amended whereby the Company acquired the development and commercialization rights to NeoCart for the
Japanese market from Purpose. Under the terms of the amended agreement, the Company assumes sole responsibility for and rights to the development
and commercialization of NeoCart in Japan. In exchange for the transfer of development and commercialization rights, the Company will pay a
success-based milestone to Purpose upon conditional approval of NeoCart in Japan, as well as commercial milestones and a low single digit royalty on
Japanese sales of NeoCart, upon full approval, if any, in Japan.
In addition to the above, the Company’s future commitments under the terms of the Original Agreement and Sub-License Agreement include:
•

A minimum non-refundable annual royalty fee of $20 thousand, for the life of the license;

•

An additional, non-refundable annual royalty fee of $30 thousand from 2016 through 2019;

•

$10.2 million in potential milestone payments; and

•

Low single digit royalties on net sales of a licensed product.
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6. CAPITAL STOCK
In October 2018, the Company closed an underwritten public offering of 26,155,000 shares of its common stock and warrants to purchase up to
19,616,250 shares of common stock, at a combined purchase price of $0.65 per share of common stock and accompanying warrant. The gross proceeds
to the Company from this offering were $17.0 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, and offering expenses payable by
the Company. The warrants were exercisable immediately upon issuance at a price of $0.70 per share of common stock and have a term of five years
commencing on the date of issuance. The exercise price of the warrants was subject to adjustment upon the occurrence of specific events, including
stock dividends, stock splits, combinations and reclassifications of the Company’s Common Stock. In the event of certain fundamental transactions of
the Company, a warrant holder may have demanded redemption of its warrant for cash in accordance with a Black-Scholes option pricing model. A
fundamental transaction was defined as a merger, sale of assets, sale of the Company, recapitalization of stock and a sale of stock whereby any owner
after the transaction would own greater than 50% of the outstanding common stock in the Company. The Company determined the warrants were
classified as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet because of the provision whereby in a fundamental transaction (as described above), the
holder could have elected to receive either the amount they were entitled to on an as-if-exercised basis or an amount based on the Black-Scholes value
of the warrants at the time of the fundamental transaction. At the issuance date, the warrants were recorded at the fair value of $8.4 million.
In three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company reduced the exercise price of the warrants issued in 2018 from $0.70 to $0.01 per share (the
“2018 Reduced Exercise Price”) and all of the holders of these warrants (the “Participating 2018 Holders”) entered into a Warrant Exercise Agreement
(the “2018 Exercise Agreement”) pursuant to which, in consideration for the 2018 Reduced Exercise Price, the Participating 2018 Holders agreed to
exercise the warrants held by such Participating 2018 Holders in full at the 2018 Reduced Exercise Price for cash. In connection with the exercise of
the warrants by the Participating 2018 Holders, the Company received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $0.2 million.
In March 2018, the Company entered into an equity distribution agreement (“ATM Agreement”) with Canaccord Genuity Inc. (“Canaccord”), pursuant
to which the Company may, from time to time, sell shares of its common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to up to $10.0 million (the
“Shares”) through Canaccord, as sales agent. The Shares will be offered and sold by the Company pursuant to its previously filed and currently
effective Registration Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-216741) (the “Registration Statement”). The Shares may only be offered and sold by
means of a prospectus, including a prospectus supplement, forming part of the effective Registration Statement. Sales of the common stock, if any, will
be made at market prices by methods deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended (the “Securities Act”), including sales made directly on The Nasdaq Capital Market, on any other existing trading market for the common
stock, or to or through a market maker other than on an exchange. There were no sales of common stock under the ATM Agreement during the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and March 31, 2018.
In January 2018, the Company completed an underwritten registered direct offering of 2,691,494 shares of common stock at a price of $2.35 per share.
The total net proceeds of the offering were $5.7 million after deducting underwriter’s discounts and commissions, and expenses related to the offering.
In September 2016, the Company closed the private placement contemplated by the securities purchase agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”), dated
September 15, 2016, between the Company and certain institutional and accredited investors in which the Company received gross proceeds of
$30.0 million (the “Private Placement”). The net proceeds after deducting placement agent fees and other transaction-related expenses was
$27.6 million. At the closing, the Company issued 2,596,059 shares of the Company’s common stock at a per share price of $2.25 and 24,158.8693
shares of the Company’s newly-created Series A Convertible Preferred Stock (“Series A Preferred Stock”), which are convertible into approximately
10,737,275 shares of common stock. As of March 31, 2019, there were 400.4910 shares of Series A Preferred Stock outstanding, which remain
convertible into 177,996 shares of the Company’s common stock. As part of the Private Placement, the investors received warrants to purchase up to
13,333,334 shares of the Company’s common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share. The placement agent for the Private Placement, H.C.
Wainwright & Co. LLC (“HCW”), and certain of its affiliates were also granted warrants to purchase 133,333 shares of the Company’s common stock at
an exercise price of $2.25 per share in exchange for the services provided by HCW. The placement agent warrants were considered a financing cost of
the Company and included in warrant expense within the consolidated statements of operations.
The warrants include a cashless-exercise feature that may be exercised solely in the event there is no effective registration statement, or no current
prospectus available for, the resale of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants as of the six-month anniversary of the closing of the Private
Placement. Upon a fundamental transaction, the holders of the warrant may require the Company to purchase any unexercised warrants in an amount
equal to the Black-Scholes value of the option. A fundamental transaction is defined as a merger, sale of assets, sale of the Company, recapitalization of
stock and a sale of stock whereby any owner after the transaction would own greater than 50% of the outstanding common stock in the Company. The
warrants became exercisable following approval of the Private Placement by our stockholders in the fourth quarter of 2016 and expire five years after
the date of such stockholder approval. The Company determined the warrants are classified as a liability on the consolidated balance sheet because
they contain a provision whereby in a fundamental transaction (as described above), the holder can elect to receive either the amount they are entitled
to on an as-if-exercised basis or an amount based on the Black-Scholes value of the warrants at the time of the fundamental transaction. At the issuance
date, the warrants were recorded at the fair value of $30.7 million.
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Concurrent with the closing of the Private Placement, the Company’s Certificate of Incorporation was amended by the filing of a Certificate of
Designation to create the Series A Preferred Stock. The Series A Preferred Stock has a par value of $0.01 and each share is convertible into 444.44
shares of common stock, at a conversion price of $2.25 per share, at the option of the holder. The Series A Preferred Stock has no voting rights and is
only entitled to dividends as declared on an as-converted basis. The Series A Preferred Stock contains no liquidation preferences or redemption rights
and shares in distributions of the Company on an as-converted basis with the common stock.
As part of the Private Placement, affiliates of certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors purchased an aggregate of 283,046 shares of
common stock, an aggregate of 2,563.1439 shares of Series A Preferred Stock and received warrants to purchase up to 1,422,221 shares of common
stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share in the Private Placement. These amounts are included in the amounts noted above.
In the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company and certain holders of the warrants issued in 2016 (the “Participating 2016 Holders”) entered
into a Warrant Amendment and Exercise Agreement (the “2016 Exercise Agreement”) pursuant to which the Company agreed to reduce the exercise
price of the warrants held by such Participating 2016 Holders from $2.25 to $0.01 per share (the “2016 Reduced Exercise Price”) in consideration for
the exercise of the warrants held by such Participating 2016 Holders in full at the 2016 Reduced Exercise Price for cash. In connection with the
exercise of the warrants by the Participating 2016 Holders, the Company received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $0.1 million. After the
full exercise of the warrants held by the Participating 2016 Holders, warrants issued in 2016 to purchase approximately 508,714 shares of the
Company’s Common Stock are outstanding.
7. WARRANTS
The Company has warrants to purchase its common stock outstanding as of March 31, 2019, as follows:
Issued

September 2016
March 2015
July 2014
July 2012

Classification

Warrants
Outstanding

Exercise
Price

Expiration

Liability
Equity
Equity
Equity

508,714
3,699
6,566
52,046

$ 2.25
9.75
7.99
0.01

November 2021
March 2025
July 2024
July 2022

8. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION
Stock option activity under the Company’s 2012 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2012 Plan”) and 2013 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2013 Plan”) for the
three months ended March 31, 2019 is summarized as follows:

Number
of Options

Outstanding at December 31, 2018
Cancelled
Outstanding at March 31, 2019

WeightedAverage
Exercise
Price

3,339,471
(1,536,304)
1,803,167

$

Vested and expected to vest at March 31, 2019

1,766,323

Exercisable at March 31, 2019

1,723,797

WeightedAverage
Remaining
Contractual
Term (in years)

Aggregate
Intrinsic
Value
(in thousands)

8.1
—
7.2

$

$

1.03
0.57
1.03

$

—
—
—

$

1.41

7.2

$

—

$

1.37

7.1

$

—

As of March 31, 2019, the weighted average grant date fair value of vested options and options outstanding was $1.82.
Stock-Based Compensation Expense
The Company did not grant any stock options to employees during the three ended March 31, 2019 but did grant stock options to employees during
the three months ended March 31, 2018. The Company estimates the fair value of stock options as of the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
pricing model and restricted stock based on the stock price, with the exception of those stock options that included a market condition. The Company
estimates the fair value of stock options that include a market condition using a Monte-Carlo model. Stock options and restricted stock issued to
non-board member, non-employees are accounted for using the fair value approach and are subject to periodic revaluation over their vesting terms.
Stock-based compensation expense amounted to $0.1 million and $0.4 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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The allocation of stock-based compensation for all options granted and restricted stock awards is as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Research and development
General and administrative
Total stock-based compensation expense

$
$

(38)
145
107

$

96
307
403

$

The weighted-average assumptions used in the Black-Scholes option pricing model to determine the fair value of the employee stock option grants and
non-employee stock options grants for the three months ended March 31, 2018 were as follows:
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Employees
Non-employees

Risk-free interest rate
Expected volatility
Expected term (in years)
Expected dividend yield

2.70%
88.2%
6.08
0.0%

1.97%
74.0%
6.08
0.0%

9. INCOME TAXES
Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are recognized based on temporary differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and
liabilities using statutory rates. A valuation allowance is recorded against deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that some or all of the deferred
tax assets will not be realized. Due to the uncertainty surrounding the realization of the favorable tax attributes in future tax returns, the Company has
recorded a full valuation allowance against the Company’s otherwise recognizable net deferred tax assets. The Company recorded no income tax
expense or benefit during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, due to a full valuation allowance recognized against its deferred tax
assets.
TAX REFORM
On December 22, 2017, the Tax Cuts and Jobs Act (the “TCJA”) was signed into United States law. The TCJA includes a number of changes to existing
tax law, including, among other things, a permanent reduction in the federal corporate income tax rate from 34% to 21%, effective as of January 1,
2018, as well as limitation of the deduction for net operating losses to 80% of annual taxable income and elimination of net operating loss carrybacks,
in each case, for losses arising in taxable years beginning after December 31, 2017 (though any such net operating losses may be carried forward
indefinitely). The tax rate change resulted in (i) a reduction in the gross amount of the Company’s deferred tax assets recorded as of December 31,
2017, without an impact on the net amount of its deferred tax assets, which are recorded with a full valuation allowance, and (ii) no income tax expense
or benefit being recognized as of the enactment date of the TCJA.
The staff of the Securities and Exchange Commission issued Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 118 to address the application of U.S. GAAP in situations
when a registrant does not have the necessary information available, prepared or analyzed (including computations) in reasonable detail to complete
the accounting for certain income tax effects of the TCJA. In connection with the initial analysis of the impact of the TCJA, the Company remeasured
its deferred tax assets and liabilities based on the rates at which they are expected to reverse in the future, which is generally 21%.
10. RELATED PARTIES
Purpose, Co.
In June 2012, the Company entered into an agreement with Purpose to amend its previous agreements. In the previous agreements, Purpose granted the
Company a perpetual license to its patents related to its exogenous tissue processor which is used in the development of the Company’s products. In
exchange, the Company granted Purpose a perpetual license to all of the Company’s biotechnology and biomaterial for use in Japan. The agreement
provided for Purpose to manufacture and sell machinery to the Company for cost until the Company’s products become commercially viable. The
Company also agreed to pay royalties on any third-party revenue generated using Purpose’s licensed technology.
Under the June 2012 amendment, the Company received exclusive rights to all of Purpose’s technology related to the exogenous tissue processor,
continued supply of exogenous tissue processors during the Company’s clinical trials, and rights to manufacture the exogenous tissue processors at
any location the Company chooses. In exchange for such consideration, the Company named Purpose the sole manufacturer of equipment and also
clarified the geographic territories of the exclusive license that Purpose was granted for use of the Company’s technology. In addition, the Company
agreed to reimburse Purpose for $0.3 million of development costs on a next generation tissue processer. Refer to the discussion under Note 5,
Commitments and Contingencies – License Agreements - Tissue Processor Sub-License.
22

Table of Contents

In May 2016, the Company acquired the development and commercialization rights to NeoCart for the Japanese market from Purpose. Under the terms
of the amended agreement, the Company assumes sole responsibility for and rights to the development and commercialization of NeoCart in Japan. In
exchange for the transfer of development and commercialization rights, the Company will pay a success-based milestone to Purpose upon conditional
approval of NeoCart in Japan, as well as commercial milestones and a low single digit royalty on Japanese sales of NeoCart, upon full approval, if any,
in Japan.
The Company paid Purpose $0.1 million in each of the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.
11. RESTRUCTURING
In connection with the aforementioned restructuring plans implemented in January 2019 and March 2019, the Company severed substantially all of its
employees before March 31, 2019. The Company incurred a restructuring charge of approximately $2.8 million, of which $0.1 million remains unpaid
at March 31, 2019. The restructuring charges were comprised solely of employee severance packages which included salary, healthcare benefits and
guaranteed bonuses.
12. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS
On April 8, 2019, the Company and Ocugen announced entering into the Merger Agreement. Upon the terms and subject to the satisfaction of the
conditions described in the Merger Agreement, including approval of the transaction by the Company’s stockholders and Ocugen’s stockholders, a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company will be merged with and into Ocugen, with Ocugen surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company. The proposed Merger is structured as a stock-for-stock transaction whereby all of Ocugen’s outstanding shares of common stock and
securities convertible into or exercisable for Ocugen’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive the Company’s common stock and
securities convertible into or exercisable for the Company’s common stock. Under the exchange ratio formula in the Merger Agreement, the former
Ocugen equity holders immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 90% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics, and the
stockholders of Histogenics immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics,
subject to certain adjustments as described in the Merger Agreement. If the proposed Merger is not completed and the Merger Agreement is terminated
under certain circumstances, Histogenics or Ocugen may be required to pay the other party a termination fee of up to 600,000 or $700,000,
respectively. Even if a termination fee is not payable in connection with a termination of the Merger Agreement, each of Histogenics and Ocugen will
have incurred significant fees and expenses, which must be paid whether or not the Merger is completed. See Note 1, Nature of Business and
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations, for further discussion of the Merger.
On April 30, 2019, the Company terminated its property lease in Waltham, Massachusetts and made a payment of $1.3 million to the landlord in
connection with the termination. The Company expects to record a $0.5 million loss in connection with the settlement of the lease obligations in the
second quarter of 2019.
On May 8, 2019, the Company entered into an agreement with the landlord to terminate its property lease Lexington, Massachusetts effective as of
June 30, 2019. In connection with the termination of this lease, the Company paid the landlord $0.3 million and agreed that the landlord shall retain
the full amount of the security deposit of $0.1 million. In the event these premises are leased to a new tenant prior to June 30, 2019, the Company’s
obligation to pay base rent, operating expenses and any other obligations due under the lease shall terminate as of the commencement of such new
lease and such date shall be deemed to be the termination date.
On May 8, 2019, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with Medavate Corp., a Colorado corporation (the “Asset Purchase
Agreement”), pursuant to which the Company has agreed to sell substantially all of its assets relating to its NeoCart program, including, without
limitation, intellectual property, business and license agreements and clinical trial data (the “Assets”) in return for a cash payment of $6.5 million. The
closing of the sale of the Assets is subject to and conditioned upon the consummation of the planned merger with Ocugen following a vote of the
Company’s stockholders approving such transaction as contemplated by the Merger Agreement made and entered as of April 5, 2019, by and among
the Company, Restore Merger Sub, Inc. and Ocugen, Inc.
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Item 2.

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

You should read the following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations in conjunction with the financial
statements and the notes thereto included elsewhere in this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q and with our audited financial statements included in our
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the SEC on March 22, 2019. Some of the information contained in this
discussion and analysis, including information with respect to our plans and strategy for our business and related financing, include forwardlooking statements that involve risks, uncertainties and assumptions. You should read the “Risk Factors” and “Information Regarding ForwardLooking Statements” sections of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for a discussion of important factors that could cause actual results to differ
materially from the results described in or implied by the forward-looking statements contained in the following discussion and analysis.
Overview
We historically focused on the development of restorative cell therapies (RCTs). We use the term RCT to refer to a new class of products that are
designed to offer patients rapid-onset pain relief and restored function through the repair of damaged or worn tissue. Our product, NeoCart ®, is an
innovative cell therapy that utilizes various aspects of our RCT platform to treat tissue injury in the field of orthopedics, specifically cartilage damage
in the knee.
NeoCart is based on our RCT platform, which we believe has the potential to be used for a broad range of additional therapeutic indications and
combines expertise in the following areas:
•

Cell therapy and processing: the handling of tissue biopsies and the extraction, isolation and expansion of the cells;

•

Biomaterials and Scaffold: three-dimensional biomaterials structures that enable the proper delivery, distribution and organization of cells
in their natural environment to support tissue formation;

•

Tissue engineering: the use of a combination of cells, engineering and biomaterials to improve or restore biological functions; and

•

Bioadhesives: natural, biocompatible materials that act as adhesives for biological tissue and allow for natural cell and tissue infiltration
and integration with native cells.

In the third quarter of 2018, we announced that our Phase 3 clinical trial of NeoCart did not meet the primary endpoint of a statistically significant
improvement in pain and function in a dual threshold responder analysis one year after treatment as compared to microfracture. In the modified Intent
to Treat (mITT) population (which excludes those patients who were randomized but not treated with NeoCart), 74.2% of the NeoCart patients
exhibited clinically meaningful improvements in pain and function compared to 62.0% of microfracture patients at one year (p=0.071). However, in
this mITT population, patients treated with NeoCart achieved a statistically significant improvement in pain and function (p=0.018) six months after
treatment as compared to patients treated with microfracture. In addition, NeoCart achieved a statistically significant improvement in pain and function
at one year in certain patient populations including patients with lesion sizes greater than 2.2 cm2 and those with a Body Mass Index, or BMI, of
greater than 28. Both NeoCart and microfracture were well tolerated and exhibited strong safety profiles.
Based on the totality of the data, we initiated a dialogue with the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in the third quarter of 2018 to
discuss the regulatory path forward for NeoCart. Our primary objective in these discussions was to determine whether the FDA would accept a
submission of a Biologics License Application (BLA) for NeoCart without data from an additional clinical trial. We had a constructive dialogue with
the FDA, which included requests for and review of additional statistical analyses, different subgroup analyses, and secondary endpoints. These
additional analyses, while compelling, did not change the conclusion that the NeoCart Phase 3 trial failed to meet its primary and secondary endpoints.
In December 2018, we received final feedback from the FDA indicating that while the NeoCart Phase 3 clinical trial resulted in certain compelling data,
particularly the early response in pain and function and the data in certain lesion sizes, an additional Phase 3 clinical trial would need to be completed
before the FDA would accept the submission of a BLA for NeoCart. The FDA indicated receptivity to novel clinical trial methodologies and
regenerative medicine advanced therapy designations in order to support additional data for a future potential submission. However, considering the
time and funding required to conduct such a trial, we discontinued the development of NeoCart and are not planning to submit a BLA.
In connection with our decision to discontinue the development of NeoCart, our board of directors engaged a financial advisory firm to help explore
our available strategic alternatives, including possible mergers and business combinations, a sale of part or all of our assets, and collaboration and
licensing arrangements. In January 2019 and March 2019, we implemented restructuring plans that were approved by our Board involving reductions
in headcount to reduce operating costs. The positions eliminated together represented all but one employee, and included our Chief Executive Officer,
Chief Operating Officer, Chief Medical Officer and Chief Business Officer. We engaged, Mr. Adam Gridley, our Chief Executive Officer, Mr. Stephen
Kennedy, our Chief Operating Officer, along with up to four additional employees as consultants to assist with our preparation for a potential merger or
wind-down of operations.
The process culminated in a planned merger (the Merger), between us and Ocugen, Inc. (Ocugen), pursuant to the Agreement and Plan of Merger and
Reorganization, dated April 5, 2019 (the Merger Agreement), by and among Histogenics, Restore Merger Sub, Inc., a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Histogenics, and Ocugen that was announced on April 8, 2019. Subject to the satisfaction of the conditions described in the Merger Agreement,
including approval of the transaction by our stockholders and Ocugen’s stockholders, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Histogenics will be merged with
and into Ocugen, with Ocugen surviving the Merger as a wholly-owned subsidiary of Histogenics.
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The proposed Merger is structured as a stock-for-stock transaction whereby all of Ocugen’s outstanding shares of common stock and securities
convertible into or exercisable for Ocugen’s common stock will be converted into the right to receive our common stock and securities convertible into
or exercisable for our common stock. Under the exchange ratio formula in the Merger Agreement, the former Ocugen equity holders immediately before
the Merger are expected to own approximately 90% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics, and the stockholders of Histogenics immediately
before the Merger are expected to own approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics subject to certain adjustments as described
in the Merger Agreement. These adjustments include additional potential ownership based on Histogenics’ cash at the closing of the Merger (the
Closing) after taking into account, among other things as set forth in the Merger Agreement, any Ocugen convertible notes that are not converted into
equity at the Closing and proceeds from any Divestiture Transactions (as defined in the Merger Agreement), and may result in up to an additional 5%
of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics. The exchange ratio formula includes Ocugen’s outstanding stock options and warrants and
Histogenics’ outstanding stock options, warrants and Series A Convertible Preferred Stock.
Historically, we devoted substantially all of our resources to the development of our RCT platform, the preclinical and clinical advancement of our
product candidates, the creation and protection of related intellectual property and the provision of general and administrative support for these
operations. We have funded our operations primarily through the private placement of preferred stock and convertible promissory notes, commercial
bank debt, sales of common stock and our collaboration with MEDINET.
We have never been profitable and incurred net losses in each year since inception. Our accumulated deficit was $226.2 million as of March 31, 2019.
Substantially all of our net losses resulted from costs incurred in connection with our research and development programs and from general and
administrative costs associated with our operations. Our net losses may fluctuate significantly from quarter to quarter and year to year. We expect that
our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our operations to a potential closing of the Merger but our expenses may be greater
than forecasted and the closing of the Merger could be delayed. If we need to raise additional cash resources, we would have to do raise such funds
through public or private equity or debt financings or other sources. However, we may be unable to raise additional funds or enter into such other
arrangements when needed on favorable terms or at all. Our failure to raise capital or enter into such other arrangements when needed would have a
negative impact on our financial condition.
Financial Operations Overview
We conduct operations in two geographic regions: Histogenics Corporation, a Delaware corporation, at our facilities in Waltham and Lexington,
Massachusetts, and ProChon Biotech Ltd. (ProChon) in Tel Aviv, Israel. We own 100% of the voting shares of ProChon. As the nature of the products,
customers and methods to distribute products are the same and the nature of the regulatory environment, the production processes and historical and
estimated future margins are similar, the two operations have been aggregated into one reporting segment.
In September 2016, we completed a private placement (the Private Placement) where we issued 2,596,059 shares of our common stock at a per share
price of $2.25 and 24,158.8693 shares of our newly-created Series A Convertible Preferred Stock, which shares of preferred stock are convertible into
approximately 10,737,275 shares of common stock. The Series A Convertible Preferred Stock became convertible into shares of our common stock
following approval of the private placement by our stockholders in the fourth quarter of 2016. As of December 31, 2018, 400.4910 shares of Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock that are convertible into 177,996 shares of common stock were outstanding. The net proceeds after deduction of placement
agent fees and other transaction-related expenses were $27.6 million. As part of the Private Placement, the investors received warrants to purchase up to
13,333,334 shares of our common stock at an exercise price of $2.25 per share (the 2016 Warrants). The 2016 warrants include a cashless-exercise
feature that may be exercised solely in the event there is no effective registration statement registering, or no current prospectus available for, the resale
of the shares of common stock underlying the warrants as of the six-month anniversary of the closing of the Private Placement. The 2016 warrants
became exercisable following approval of the Private Placement by our stockholders in the fourth quarter of 2016 and expire five years after the date of
such stockholder approval.
In January 2018, we completed an underwritten registered direct offering of 2,691,494 shares of common stock at a price of $2.35 per share. The total
net proceeds of the offering were $5.7 million after deducting underwriter’s discounts and commissions, and expenses related to the offering.
In March 2018, we entered into an equity distribution agreement (the Equity Distribution Agreement) with Canaccord Genuity Inc. (Canaccord),
pursuant to which we may, from time to time, sell shares of our common stock (the Shares), having an aggregate offering price of up to $10 million
through Canaccord, as our sales agent. The Shares will be offered and sold by us pursuant to our previously filed and currently effective Registration
Statement on Form S-3 (Reg. No. 333-216741) (the Registration Statement). The Shares may only be offered and sold by means of a prospectus,
including a prospectus supplement, forming part of the effective Registration Statement. Sales of the common stock, if any, will be made at market
prices by methods deemed to be an “at the market offering” as defined in Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the
Securities Act), including sales made directly on The Nasdaq Capital Market, on any other existing trading market for the common stock, or to or
through a market maker other than on an exchange. During the year ended December 31, 2018, we sold an aggregate of 6,633,903 shares of common
stock and received $4.5 million after deducting commissions.
On October 10, 2018, we closed an underwritten public offering of 26,155,000 shares of our common stock and warrants to purchase up to 19,616,250
shares of common stock (the 2018 Warrants), at a combined purchase price of $0.65 per share of common stock and accompanying warrant. The gross
proceeds from this offering were $17.0 million, before deducting underwriting discounts and commissions, and offering expenses payable by us. The
2018 Warrants were exercisable immediately upon issuance at a price of $0.70 per share of common stock and have a term of five years commencing on
the date of issuance.
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In the first quarter of 2019, we and certain holders of the 2016 Warrants (the Participating 2016 Holders) entered into a Warrant Amendment and
Exercise Agreement (the 2016 Exercise Agreement) pursuant to which we agreed to reduce the exercise price of the 2016 Warrants held by such
Participating 2016 Holders from $2.25 to $0.01 per share (the 2016 Reduced Exercise Price) in consideration for the exercise of the 2016 Warrants held
by such Participating 2016 Holders in full at the 2016 Reduced Exercise Price for cash. In connection with the exercise of the 2016 Warrants by the
Participating 2016 Holders, we received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $0.1 million. After the exercise of the 2016 Warrants held by the
Participating 2016 Holders, 2016 Warrants to purchase approximately 508,714 shares of the Company’s Common Stock remain outstanding.
Also in the first quarter of 2019, we reduced the exercise price of the 2018 Warrants from $0.70 to $0.01 per share (the 2018 Reduced Exercise Price)
and all of the holders of the 2018 Warrants (the Participating 2018 Holders) entered into a Warrant Exercise Agreement (the 2018 Exercise Agreement)
pursuant to which in consideration for the 2018 Reduced Exercise Price, the Participating 2018 Holders agreed to exercise the 2018 Warrants held by
such Participating 2018 Holders in full at the 2018 Reduced Exercise Price for cash. In connection with the exercise of the 2018 Warrants by the
Participating 2018 Holders, we received aggregate gross proceeds of approximately $0.2 million.
The consolidated financial statements and the following information include the accounts of Histogenics, ProChon and Histogenics Securities
Corporation. All intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.
Critical Accounting Policies and Significant Judgments and Estimates
Our management’s discussion and analysis of our consolidated financial condition and results of operations are based on our consolidated financial
statements, which have been prepared in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. The preparation of these consolidated
financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses and the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities in our consolidated financial statements. On an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates and judgments,
including those related to accrued expenses and stock-based compensation. We base our estimates on historical experience, known trends and events,
and various other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. Other than the adoption of ASU No. 2016-02, there have been no material changes to our critical accounting policies and
estimates from those previously disclosed in our 2018 Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018 (see Note 2 of the Notes to
the Consolidated and Combined Financial Statements).
Other Company Information
Net Operating Loss Carryforwards
Utilization of the net operating loss (NOL) and research and development credit carryforwards may be subject to a substantial annual limitation due to
ownership change limitations that have occurred or that could occur in the future, as required by Section 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code
(Code), as well as similar state and foreign provisions. These ownership changes may limit the amount of NOL and research and development credit
carryforwards that can be utilized annually to offset future taxable income and tax, respectively. In general, an “ownership change” as defined by
Section 382 of the Code results from a transaction or series of transactions over a three-year period resulting in an ownership change of more than 50%
of the outstanding stock of a company by certain stockholders. We have completed a study prior to December 31, 2017, to assess whether an ownership
change has occurred and the results of this study indicated we experienced ownership changes, as defined by Section 382 of the Code, in each of 2006,
2011, 2012, 2013 and 2016. We have not recorded NOLs that as a result of these restrictions will expire unused. The limitations are an aggregate of
$312.8 million for the years 2010 to 2016.
As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we had U.S. federal NOL carryforwards of $67 million and $43.9 million, respectively, which may be available to
offset future income tax liabilities and expire at various dates through 2037. As of December 31, 2018, and 2017, we also had U.S. state NOL
carryforwards of $66.9 million and $43.6 million, respectively, which may be available to offset future income tax liabilities and expire at various
dates through 2037. As of December 31, 2018 and 2017, we also had $26.2 million and $26.1 million, respectively, of foreign NOL carryforwards
which may be available to offset future income tax liabilities, which carryforwards do not expire.
As of March 31, 2019, we have provided a full valuation allowance for deferred tax assets.
JOBS Act
On April 5, 2012, the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act (JOBS Act) was enacted. Section 107 of the JOBS Act permits an “emerging growth
company” or a “smaller reporting company” to delay the adoption of new or revised accounting standards until those standards would otherwise apply
to private companies. We plan to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised accounting standards and, therefore, we may not be subject to
the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not emerging growth companies.
For so long as we are an “emerging growth company” or “smaller reporting company,” we intend to rely on exemptions relating to: (1) providing an
auditor’s attestation report on our system of internal control over financial reporting pursuant to Section 404(b) of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act and
(2) complying with any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board regarding mandatory audit firm rotation
or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the
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financial statements, known as the auditor discussion and analysis. We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (a) the last day of
the fiscal year in which we have total annual gross revenue of $1.0 billion or more, (b) December 31, 2019, the last day of our fiscal year following the
fifth anniversary of the date of the completion of our initial public offering (IPO), (c) the date on which we have issued more than $1.0 billion in
non-convertible debt during the previous three years and (d) the date on which we are deemed to be a large accelerated filer under the rules of the SEC.
Results of Operations
Three Month Periods Ended March, 2019 and 2018
The following table summarizes the results of our operations for the three-month period ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Research and development expenses
General and administrative expenses
Restructuring
Loss due to asset impairment
Other income (expense), net

$

1,583
2,929
2,789
750
(1,364)

$

3,286
2,807
—
—
(8,740)

Change
$

$(1,703)
122
—
—
(7,376)

%

(52)%
4
—
—
(84)

Research and Development Expenses. Research and development expenses were $1.6 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared
to $3.3 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. The decrease of $1.7 million was primarily due to suspending the development of NeoCart
and our related restructuring plans that we implemented in January 2019 and March 2019. We expect our research and development expenses will be
minimal until the anticipated closing of the Merger.
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses were $2.9 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019
substantially unchanged compared to $2.8 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018. We expect our general and administrative expenses to
be minimal until the anticipated closing of the Merger.
Restructuring. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, the Company implemented two restructurings that resulted in the termination of
substantially all of its employees. In connection with the employee terminations, the Company incurred approximately $3.8 million in severancerelated expenses. Substantially all of the severance activity was incurred and paid by March 31, 2019.
Loss due to asset impairment. The Company incurred cost of $0.9 million in 2018 related to the License Agreement with MEDINET, of which
$0.8 million was recorded as an asset that was to be expensed proportionally over the performance service period. However, given the decision to
discontinue the development of NeoCart and terminate manufacturing operations, we concluded that the asset was fully impaired and therefore the full
asset value was written off in the first quarter of 2019.
Other Income (Expense), Net. Net other expense was ($1.4) million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 as compared to ($8.7) million for the
three months ended March 31, 2018. In both periods, the charges were primarily due to changes in warrant liability caused by a decrease in our stock
price during the respective periods.
Liquidity and Capital Resources
We have incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations resulting in an accumulated deficit at March 31, 2019 of $226.2 million. We
anticipate that we will continue to incur net losses for the next several years. Through March 31, 2019, we have funded our consolidated operations
primarily through funds from the sale of equity securities, commercial bank debt, payments from collaboration activities, and, to a limited extent,
revenue from product sales and grants. As of March 31, 2019, we had cash and cash equivalents $7.4 million.
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We believe that our existing cash and cash equivalents will be sufficient to fund our projected cash needs into the middle of 2019 and enable us to
complete our planned merger with Ocugen. However, if we experience a delay in completing the Merger, we will require additional capital to sustain
our operations through such completion or we will need to pursue an immediate dissolution of the Company. If we need additional capital, we would
need to raise such capital through debt or equity financings, asset sales or other strategic transactions. However, there can be no assurances that we will
be able to complete any such transaction on acceptable terms or otherwise. The failure to obtain sufficient funds on commercially acceptable terms
when needed could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition and may prevent us from completing
the Merger. Accordingly, these factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about our ability to continue as a going concern.
The following table sets forth a summary of the net cash flow activity for each of the periods indicated:
Three Months Ended March 31,
2019
2018
(in thousands)

Net cash provided by (used in) operating activities
Net cash used in investing activities
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents

$

$

(8,492)
—
326
(8,166)

$

$

3,286
(355)
5,495
8,426

Change
$

$(11,778)
355
(5,169)
$(16,592)

%

(358)%
100
(94)
(197)%

Operating Activities
Cash from operating activities decreased from a source of $3.3 million to a use of $8.5 million for the three months ended March 31, 2018 compared to
the three months ended March 31, 2019. During the three months ended March 31, 2019, net cash used in operating activities was driven primarily by
our net loss of $9.4 million and a combined reduction in accounts payable and accrued expenses of $1.4 million, partially offset by non-cash charges
for the change in the fair value of warrant liability of $1.4 million and loss on asset impairment of $0.8 million. During the three months ended
March 31, 2018, the Company’s net cash provided by operations was favorably impacted by the receipt of $10 million of deferred revenue associated
with the MEDINET License Agreement.
Investing Activities
The Company had no cash flows from investing activities for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to a net use of $0.3 million for the
same three-month period of 2018.
Financing Activities
Cash provided by financing activities decreased $5.2 million for the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared to the same period of 2018. The net
cash provided in 2018 was primarily due to the issuance of common stock. The net cash provided in 2019 was due to proceeds from the exercise of
common warrants.
Operating Capital Requirements
We anticipate that we will continue to incur losses for the next several quarters and we may encounter unforeseen expenses, difficulties, complications,
delays and other unknown factors that may adversely affect our business. We may also need additional funding in the future in connection with our
continuing operations if our Merger with Ocugen is delayed.
If we raise additional funds through the issuance of additional debt or equity securities, it could result in dilution to our existing stockholders,
increased fixed payment obligations and the existence of securities with rights that may be senior to those of our common stock. If we incur
indebtedness, we could become subject to covenants that would restrict our operations and potentially impair our competitiveness, such as limitations
on our ability to incur additional debt, limitations on our ability to acquire, sell or license intellectual property rights and other operating restrictions
that could adversely impact our ability to conduct our business. Any of these events could significantly harm our business, financial condition and
prospects.
Our forecast of the period of time through which our financial resources will be adequate to support our operations is a forward-looking statement and
involves risks and uncertainties, and actual results could vary as a result of a number of factors. We have based this estimate on assumptions that may
prove to be wrong, and we could utilize our available capital resources sooner than we currently expect. The amount and timing of future funding
requirements, both near- and long-term, will depend on many factors, including:
•

the accuracy of our estimates regarding expenses and any capital requirements;
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•

the cost of retaining key personnel and consultants;

•

the cost of establishing and maintaining development and commercialization partnerships and or licensing transactions we may pursue;

•

the extent to which we are required to pay milestone or other payments under our in-license agreements and the timing of such payments;

•

the timely completion of the Merger with Ocugen;

•

the timing, completion and funds received from any asset sales we make in connection with the Merger;

•

any unexpected expenses and liabilities that related to the wind-down of our operations and preparation for the Merger; and

•

the cost of filing, prosecuting, defending and enforcing any patent claims and other intellectual property rights.

If we cannot capitalize on our business opportunities because we lack sufficient capital, our business, financial condition and results of operations
could be materially adversely affected.
As previously announced, on October 17, 2018, Nasdaq notified the Company that it did not meet Nasdaq’s $1.00 per share minimum bid price
requirement under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, and the Company was given an initial grace
period of 180 days, or until April 15, 2019, to regain compliance with this Rule. On April 16, 2019, the Company received a letter (the Letter) from the
Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Staff (the Staff) notifying the Company that, based upon the Company’s continuing non-compliance with Rule 5550(a)
(2), the Staff had determined that the Company’s common stock would be delisted from Nasdaq unless the Company timely requests a hearing before a
Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the Panel). The Letter also noted that the Company was not eligible for a second 180 day grace period as it does not comply
with the stockholders’ equity initial listing requirement for The Nasdaq Capital Market.
Accordingly, the requested a hearing before the Panel, which is expected to occur in the second quarter of 2019. The Company’s common stock will
continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “HSGX” until the Panel issues its decision following the hearing and through the
expiration of any additional extension period granted by the Panel. There can be no assurance that the Panel will grant the Company’s request for
continued listing.
A delisting would likely make it more difficult for us to obtain financing through the sale of our equity. Any such sale of equity would likely be more
dilutive to our current stockholders than would be the case if our shares were listed.
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
We did not have any off-balance sheet arrangements during the periods presented, and we do not currently have, any off-balance sheet arrangements, as
defined in the rules and regulations of the SEC.
Item 3.

Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.

Not applicable.
Item 4.

Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
Disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange
Act), are controls and other procedures designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed in reports filed or submitted under the Exchange
Act is recorded, processed, summarized, and reported within the time periods specified by the rules and forms promulgated by the SEC. Disclosure
controls and procedures include, without limitation, controls and procedures designed to ensure that such information is accumulated and
communicated to management, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer, as appropriate, to allow timely decisions regarding
required disclosure.
In connection with the preparation of this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, we completed an evaluation, as of March 31, 2019, under the supervision of
and with the participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as to the effectiveness of our
disclosure controls and procedures (as such term is defined in Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under the Exchange Act). It should be noted that any
system of controls, however well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance that the objectives of the system will
be met. In addition, the design of any control system is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events.
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We have identified a material weakness in our internal controls relating to the accounting for transactions that are either highly complex and/or
unusual in nature. In such instances, we seek to augment our internal accounting capabilities by obtaining assistance from third-parties who have
greater expertise in such areas. Examples of situations such as these include (but are not limited to) the determination of the initial and periodic fair
value of warrants that are liability classified and the accounting treatment for the termination of the Company’s collaboration agreement with Intrexon
Corporation (“Intrexon”).
For example, during the third quarter of 2018, we identified a material weakness in our internal controls relating to the valuation of the warrant
liability. Because the valuation of the warrants is exceedingly complex and requires highly specialized skills to perform and review, we use the
assistance of a third-party service provider to perform such valuation. In the third quarter of 2018, the third-party service provider made an error in the
valuation that was not detected by management in its review process but was identified by our independent registered public accounting firm. In the
fourth quarter of 2018, we identified a material weakness in our internal controls related to the accounting treatment for the contingent liability
associated with the termination agreement entered into with Intrexon which terminated the Company’s collaboration agreement with Intrexon. In this
instance, we concluded after numerous discussions with our independent registered public accounting firm that we had incorrectly accounted for the
contingent liability. In both cases these items were discovered prior to the issuance of the financial statements.
A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in internal control over financial reporting, such that there is a reasonable
possibility that a material misstatement of our annual or interim financial statements will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis. The identified
material weakness did not result in a misstatement in our final consolidated financial statements or disclosures; however, it could result in
misstatements of certain account balances (such as warrant liability and change in fair value of warrant liability or the accrued expenses due to
Intrexon) or disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be
prevented or detected. We have implemented additional review procedures, including engaging a second third-party service provider to assist in our
review of the work of the third-party service provider preparing the warrant valuation analysis and will seek to implement a similar procedure for other
unusual or complex transactions going forward. We believe these actions will be sufficient to remediate the identified material weakness and
strengthen our internal control over financial reporting, as well as our disclosure controls and procedures. However, while certain remediation steps
have been completed in the fourth quarter of 2018, the enhanced controls relating thereto are not all yet fully operational, and we may determine to
take additional measures to address our control deficiencies or to modify the remediation plans described above. The identified material weakness in
our internal control over financial reporting will not be considered remediated until the new controls are fully implemented, in operation for a
sufficient period of time, tested and concluded by management to be designed and operating effectively.
Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting
There were no changes in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act) that
occurred during the period covered by this report that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over
financial reporting.
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PART II – OTHER INFORMATION
Item 1.

Legal Proceedings.

From time to time, we are subject to claims in legal proceedings arising in the normal course of its business. We do not believe that we are currently
party to any pending legal actions that could reasonably be expected to have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of
operations or cash flows.
Item 1A.

Risk Factors.

The following description of risk factors include any material changes to, and supersedes the description of, risk factors associated with our business
previously disclosed in Part I, Item 1A of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018, filed with the Securities and
Exchange Commission (SEC) on March 22, 2019, under the heading “Risk Factors.” Our business, financial condition and operating results can be
affected by a number of factors, whether currently known or unknown, including but not limited to those described below, any one or more of which
could, directly or indirectly, cause our actual operating results and financial condition to vary materially from past, or anticipated future, operating
results and financial condition. Any of these factors, in whole or in part, could materially and adversely affect our business, financial condition,
operating results and the price of our common stock.
The following discussion of risk factors contains forward-looking statements. These risk factors may be important to understanding any statement in
this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q or elsewhere. The following information should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial
statements and related notes in Part I, Item 1, “Financial Statements” and Part I, Item 2, “Management’s, Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.”
Because of the following factors, as well as other factors affecting our financial condition and operating results, past financial performance should
not be considered to be a reliable indicator of future performance, and investors should not use historical trends to anticipate results or trends in
future periods.
Risks Related to the Proposed Merger
The exchange ratio set forth in the Merger Agreement is not adjustable based on the market price of our common stock, so the merger consideration
at the closing of the Merger may have a greater or lesser value than at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.
The Merger Agreement has set the exchange ratio for the Ocugen capital stock, and the exchange ratio is based on the outstanding capital stock of
Ocugen and the outstanding common stock of Histogenics, in each case immediately prior to the closing of the Merger. Applying the exchange ratio
formula in the Merger Agreement, the former Ocugen stockholders immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 90% of the
outstanding capital stock of Histogenics immediately following the Merger, and the stockholders of Histogenics immediately before the Merger are
expected to own approximately 10% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics immediately following the Merger, subject to certain assumptions,
including additional potential ownership based on Histogenics’ cash at the Closing after taking into account, among other things as set forth in the
Merger Agreement, any Ocugen convertible notes that are not converted into equity at the Closing and proceeds from any Divestiture Transactions (as
defined in the Merger Agreement), up to an additional 5% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics.
Any changes in the market price of our common stock before the completion of the Merger will not affect the number of shares of our common stock
issuable to Ocugen’s stockholders pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Therefore, if before the completion of the Merger the market price of our
common stock increases from the market price of our common stock on the date of the Merger Agreement, then Ocugen’s stockholders could receive
merger consideration with substantially greater value than the value of such merger consideration on the date of the Merger Agreement. Similarly, .if
before the completion of the Merger the market price of our common stock declines from the market price on the date of the Merger Agreement, then
Ocugen’s stockholders could receive merger consideration with substantially lower value than the value of such merger consideration on the date of
the Merger Agreement The Merger Agreement does not include a price-based termination right. Because the exchange ratio does not adjust as a result
of changes in the market price of our common stock, for each one percentage point change in the market price of our common stock, there is a
corresponding one percentage point rise or decline, respectively, in the value of the total merger consideration payable to Ocugen’s stockholders
pursuant to the Merger Agreement.
Failure to complete the proposed Merger may result in Histogenics and Ocugen paying a termination fee to the other party and could significantly
harm the market price of our common stock and negatively affect the future business and operations of each company.
If the proposed Merger is not completed and the Merger Agreement is terminated under certain circumstances, we or Ocugen may be required to pay the
other party a termination fee of up to $600,000 or $700,000, respectively. Even if a termination fee is not payable in connection with a termination of
the Merger Agreement, each of Histogenics and Ocugen will have incurred significant fees and expenses, which must be paid whether or not the Merger
is completed. Further, if the proposed Merger is not completed, it could significantly harm the market price of our common stock.
In addition, if the Merger Agreement is terminated and the board of directors of Histogenics or Ocugen determines to seek another business
combination, there can be no assurance that either we or Ocugen will be able to find a partner and close an alternative transaction on terms that are as
favorable or more favorable than the terms set forth in the Merger Agreement.
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The proposed Merger is subject to approval of the Merger Agreement by our stockholders and the Ocugen stockholders. Failure to obtain these
approvals would prevent the closing of the Merger.
Before the proposed Merger can be completed, the stockholders of each of Histogenics and Ocugen must approve the Merger Agreement. Failure to
obtain the required stockholder approvals may result in a material delay in, or the abandonment of, the Merger. Any delay in completing the proposed
Merger may materially adversely affect the timing and benefits that are expected to be achieved from the proposed Merger.
The Merger may be completed even though certain events occur prior to the closing that materially and adversely affect Histogenics or Ocugen.
The Merger Agreement provides that either Histogenics or Ocugen can refuse to complete the proposed Merger if there is a material adverse change
affecting the other party between April 5, 2019, the date of the Merger Agreement, and the closing of the Merger. However, certain types of changes do
not permit either party to refuse to complete the proposed Merger, even if such change could be said to have a material adverse effect on Histogenics or
Ocugen, including:
•

general business, economic or political conditions or conditions generally affecting the industries in which Ocugen or Histogenics, as
applicable, operates;

•

any natural disaster or any acts of war, armed hostilities or terrorism;

•

any changes in financial, banking or securities markets;

•

with respect to Histogenics, any change in the stock price or trading volume of Histogenics excluding any underlying effect that may have
caused such change;

•

with respect to Histogenics, failure to meet internal or analysts’ expectations or projects or the results of operations;

•

any clinical trial programs or studies, including any adverse data, event or outcome arising out of or related to any such programs or
studies;

•

any change in accounting requirements or principles or any change in applicable laws, rules, or regulations or the interpretation thereof;

•

any effect resulting from the announcement or pendency of the proposed Merger or any related transactions; and

•

the taking of any action, or the failure to take any action, by either Histogenics or Ocugen required to comply with the terms of the Merger
Agreement.

If adverse changes occur and Histogenics and Ocugen still complete the Merger, the market price of the combined organization’s common stock may
suffer. This in turn may reduce the value of the Merger to the stockholders of Histogenics, Ocugen individually or on a combined basis.
Some Histogenics and Ocugen officers and directors have interests in the proposed Merger that are different from the respective stockholders of
Histogenics and Ocugen and that may influence them to support or approve the Merger without regard to the interests of the respective stockholders
of Histogenics and Ocugen.
Certain officers and directors of Histogenics and Ocugen participate in arrangements that provide them with interests in the proposed Merger that are
different from the interests of the respective stockholders of Histogenics and Ocugen, including, among others, the continued service as an officer or
director of the combined organization, severance benefits, the acceleration of stock option vesting, continued indemnification and the potential ability
to sell an increased number of shares of common stock of the combined organization in accordance with Rule 144 under the Securities Act of 1933, as
amended.
For example, we have entered into certain employment and severance benefits agreements with certain of our executive officers that may result in the
receipt by such executive officers of cash severance payments and other benefits in the event of a covered termination of employment of each
executive officer’s employment. In addition, and for example, certain of Ocugen’s directors and executive officers have options, subject to vesting, to
purchase shares of Ocugen’s common stock which, at the closing of the Merger, shall be converted into and become options to purchase shares of our
common stock, certain of Ocugen’s directors and executive officers are expected to become directors and executive officers of Histogenics upon the
closing of the Merger, and all of Ocugen’s directors and executive officers are entitled to certain indemnification and liability insurance coverage
pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement. These interests, among others, may influence the officers and directors of Histogenics and Ocugen to
support or approve the proposed Merger.
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The market price of our common stock following the Merger may decline as a result of the Merger.
The market price of our common stock may decline as a result of the Merger for a number of reasons including if:
•

investors react negatively to the prospects of the combined organization’s product candidates, business and financial condition following
the Merger;

•

the effect of the Merger on the combined organization’s business and prospects is not consistent with the expectations of financial or
industry analysts; or

•

the combined organization does not achieve the perceived benefits of the Merger as rapidly or to the extent anticipated by financial or
industry analysts.

Histogenics and Ocugen securityholders will have a reduced ownership and voting interest in, and will exercise less influence over the management
of, the combined organization following the closing of the Merger as compared to their current ownership and voting interest in the respective
companies.
After the completion of the Merger, the current securityholders of Histogenics and Ocugen will own a smaller percentage of the combined organization
than their ownership in their respective companies prior to the Merger. Immediately after the Merger, it is currently estimated that Ocugen
securityholders will own approximately 90% of the common stock of the combined organization, and Histogenics securityholders, whose shares of
Histogenics common stock will remain outstanding after the Merger, will own approximately 10% of the common stock of the combined organization.
These estimates are based on the anticipated exchange ratio and are subject to adjustment as provided in the Merger Agreement. See also the risk factor
above titled, “The exchange ratio is not adjustable based on the market price of Histogenics common stock, so the merger consideration at the closing
may have a greater or lesser value than at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.”
Histogenics and Ocugen stockholders may not realize a benefit from the Merger commensurate with the ownership dilution they will experience in
connection with or following the Merger.
If the combined organization is unable to realize the strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the proposed Merger, Histogenics’ and
Ocugen’s stockholders will have experienced substantial dilution of their ownership interests in their respective companies without receiving the
expected commensurate benefit, or only receiving part of the commensurate benefit to the extent the combined organization is able to realize only part
of the expected strategic and financial benefits currently anticipated from the proposed Merger.
The combined company will need to raise additional capital by issuing securities or debt or through licensing or other strategic arrangements,
which may cause dilution to the combined company’s stockholders or restrict the combined company’s operations or impact its proprietary rights.
The combined company may be required to raise additional funds sooner than currently planned. Although the Merger Agreement does not condition
the completion of the Merger upon either company holding a minimum amount of cash at the effective time of the Merger, if either or both of
Histogenics or Ocugen hold less cash at the time of the closing Merger than the parties currently expect, the combined company will need to raise
additional capital sooner than expected. Additional financing may not be available to the combined company when it needs it or may not be available
on favorable terms. To the extent that the combined company raises additional capital by issuing equity securities, such an issuance may cause
significant dilution to the combined company’s stockholders’ ownership and the terms of any new equity securities may have preferences over the
combined company’s common stock. Any debt financing the combined company enters into may involve covenants that restrict its operations. These
restrictive covenants may include limitations on additional borrowing and specific restrictions on the use of the combined company’s assets, as well as
prohibitions on its ability to create liens, pay dividends, redeem its stock or make investments. In addition, if the combined company raises additional
funds through licensing, partnering or other strategic arrangements, it may be necessary to relinquish rights to some of the combined company’s
technologies or product candidates and proprietary rights, or grant licenses on terms that are not favorable to the combined company.
During the pendency of the proposed Merger, Histogenics and Ocugen may not be able to enter into a business combination with another party at a
favorable price because of restrictions in the Merger Agreement, which could adversely affect their respective businesses.
Covenants in the Merger Agreement impede the ability of Histogenics and Ocugen to make acquisitions, subject to certain exceptions relating to
fiduciary duties, as set forth below, or to complete other transactions that are not in the ordinary course of business pending completion of the proposed
Merger. As a result, if the Merger is not completed, the parties may be at a disadvantage to their competitors during such period. In addition, while the
Merger Agreement is in effect, each party is generally prohibited from soliciting, initiating, encouraging or entering into certain extraordinary
transactions, such as a merger, sale of assets, or other business combination outside the ordinary course of business with any third party, subject to
certain exceptions relating to fiduciary duties. Any such transactions could be favorable to such party’s stockholders.
Certain provisions of the Merger Agreement may discourage third parties from submitting alternative takeover proposals, including proposals that
may be superior to the arrangements contemplated by the Merger Agreement.
The terms of the Merger Agreement prohibit each of Histogenics and Ocugen from soliciting alternative takeover proposals or cooperating with
persons making unsolicited takeover proposals, except in limited circumstances when such party’s board of directors determines in good faith that an
unsolicited alternative takeover proposal is or is reasonably likely to lead to a superior takeover proposal and that failure to cooperate with the
proponent of the proposal would be reasonably likely to be inconsistent with the applicable board’s fiduciary duties.
33

Table of Contents

Because the lack of a public market for Ocugen’s capital stock makes it difficult to evaluate the value of Ocugen’s capital stock, the stockholders of
Ocugen may receive shares of our common stock in the Merger that have a value that is less than, or greater than, the fair market value of Ocugen’s
capital stock.
The outstanding capital stock of Ocugen is privately held and is not traded in any public market. The lack of a public market makes it extremely
difficult to determine the fair market value of Ocugen. Because the percentage of our common stock to be issued to Ocugen’s stockholders was
determined based on negotiations between the parties, it is possible that the value of our common stock to be received by Ocugen’s stockholders will
be less than the fair market value of Ocugen, or Histogenics may pay more than the aggregate fair market value for Ocugen.
If the conditions to the Merger are not met, the Merger will not occur.
Even if the Merger is approved by the stockholders of Histogenics and Ocugen, specified conditions must be satisfied or waived to complete the
Merger. We cannot assure you that all of the conditions will be satisfied or waived. If the conditions are not satisfied or waived, the Merger will not
occur or will be delayed, and Histogenics and Ocugen each may lose some or all of the intended benefits of the proposed Merger. Additionally, if the
Merger does not occur, we may not have sufficient cash to conduct an orderly wind-down and dissolution of Histogenics. We would not be able to raise
additional capital through the sale of our NeoCart program prior to approval from our stockholders as such assets constitute substantially all of our
assets. Histogenics may seek an immediate dissolution, subject to a vote of our stockholders, in the event the Merger is not completed.
Litigation relating to the proposed Merger could require Histogenics or Ocugen to incur significant costs and suffer management distraction, and
could delay or enjoin the proposed Merger.
Histogenics and Ocugen could be subject to demands or litigation related to the proposed Merger, whether or not the Merger is consummated. Such
actions may create uncertainty relating to the Merger, or delay or enjoin the Merger, and responding to such demands. In addition, such demands or
litigation could lead to a dissolution or bankruptcy if the costs associated with such demands or litigation are significant enough.
Risks Related to Our Financial Condition and Our Need for Additional Financing, and Additional Risks Related to the Merger
There is no assurance that the proposed Merger will be completed in a timely manner or at all. If the proposed Merger is not consummated, our
business could suffer materially and our stock price could decline.
The closing of the proposed Merger is subject to the satisfaction or waiver of a number of closing conditions, as described above, including the
required approvals by Histogenics and Ocugen stockholders and other customary closing conditions. See the risk factors above titled, “The proposed
Merger is subject to approval of the Merger Agreement by our stockholders and the Ocugen stockholders. Failure to obtain these approvals would
prevent the closing of the Merger” and “If the conditions to the Merger are not met, the Merger will not occur.” If the conditions are not satisfied or
waived, the proposed Merger may be materially delayed or abandoned. If the proposed Merger is not consummated, our ongoing business may be
adversely affected and, without realizing any of the benefits of having consummated the proposed Merger, we will be subject to a number of risks,
including the following:
•

we have incurred and expect to continue to incur significant expenses related to the proposed Merger even if the Merger is not
consummated;

•

we could be obligated to pay Ocugen a termination fee of up to $0.3 million under certain circumstances set forth in the Merger
Agreement;

•

the market price of our common stock may decline to the extent that the current market price reflects a market assumption that the proposed
Merger will be completed; and

•

matters relating to the proposed Merger have required and will continue to require substantial commitments of time and resources by our
remaining employee and consultants, which could otherwise have been devoted to other opportunities that may have been beneficial to us.

We also could be subject to litigation related to any failure to consummate the proposed Merger or to perform our obligations under the Merger
Agreement. If the proposed Merger is not consummated, these risks may materialize and may adversely affect our business, financial condition and the
market price of our common stock.
If the proposed Merger is not completed, we may be unsuccessful in completing an alternative transaction on terms that are as favorable as the terms
of the proposed Merger with Ocugen, or at all, and we may otherwise be unable to continue to operate our business. Our board of directors may
decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation of Histogenics. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to our stockholders will
depend heavily on the timing of such liquidation as well as the amount of cash that will need to be reserved for commitments and contingent
liabilities.
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Our assets currently consist primarily of cash, cash equivalents and short-term investments, our NeoCart assets, the remaining value, if any, of our
deferred tax assets, our listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market and the Merger Agreement with Ocugen. While we have entered into the Merger
Agreement with Ocugen, the closing of the proposed Merger may be delayed or may not occur at all and there can be no assurance that the proposed
Merger will deliver the anticipated benefits we expect or enhance stockholder value. If we are unable to consummate the proposed Merger, our board of
directors may elect to pursue an alternative strategy, one of which may be a strategic transaction similar to the proposed Merger. Attempting to
complete an alternative transaction like the proposed Merger will be costly and time consuming, and we can make no assurances that such an
alternative transaction would occur at all. Alternatively, our board of directors may elect to resume our efforts to seek potential collaborative,
partnering or other strategic arrangements for our NeoCart assets, including a sale or other divestiture of our NeoCart assets, or our board of directors
could instead decide to pursue a dissolution and liquidation of our company. In such an event, the amount of cash available for distribution to our
stockholders will depend heavily on the timing of such decision, as with the passage of time the amount of cash available for distribution will be
reduced as we continue to fund our operations. In addition, if our board of directors were to approve and recommend, and our stockholders were to
approve, a dissolution and liquidation of our company, we would be required under Delaware corporate law to pay our outstanding obligations, as well
as to make reasonable provision for contingent and unknown obligations, prior to making any distributions in liquidation to our stockholders. Our
commitments and contingent liabilities may include severance obligations, regulatory, clinical and preclinical obligations, and fees and expenses
related to the proposed Merger. As a result of this requirement, a portion of our assets would need to be reserved pending the resolution of such
obligations. In addition, we may be subject to litigation or other claims related to a dissolution and liquidation. If a dissolution and liquidation were
pursued, our board of directors, in consultation with its advisors, would need to evaluate these matters and make a determination about a reasonable
amount to reserve. Accordingly, holders of our common stock could lose all or a significant portion of their investment in the event of a liquidation,
dissolution or winding up of the company.
The issuance of shares of our common stock to Ocugen stockholders in the proposed Merger will substantially dilute the voting power of our current
stockholders.
If the proposed Merger is completed, each outstanding share of Ocugen common stock will be converted into the right to receive a number of shares of
our common stock equal to the exchange ratio determined pursuant to the Merger Agreement. Immediately following the Merger, the former Ocugen
stockholders immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 90% of our outstanding capital stock, and our stockholders
immediately before the Merger are expected to own approximately 10% of our outstanding capital stock, subject to certain assumptions , including
additional potential ownership based on Histogenics’ cash at the closing of the Merger (the “Closing”) after taking into account, among other things as
set forth in the Merger Agreement, any Ocugen convertible notes that are not converted into equity at the Closing and proceeds from any Divestiture
Transactions (as defined in the Merger Agreement), and may result in up to an additional 5% of the outstanding capital stock of Histogenics. The
exchange ratio formula includes Ocugen’s outstanding stock options and warrants and Histogenics’ outstanding stock options, warrants and Series A
Convertible Preferred Stock. Accordingly, the issuance of shares of our common stock to Ocugen stockholders in the Merger will reduce significantly
the relative voting power of each share of Histogenics common stock held by our current stockholders. Consequently, our stockholders as a group will
have significantly less influence over the management and policies of the combined company after the Merger than prior to the Merger. These
estimates are based on the anticipated exchange ratio and are subject to adjustment as provided in the Merger Agreement. See also the risk factor above
titled, “The exchange ratio set forth in the Merger Agreement is not adjustable based on the market price of Histogenics common stock, so the merger
consideration at the closing may have a greater or lesser value than at the time the Merger Agreement was signed.”
We have incurred significant losses since our inception and anticipate that we will continue to incur substantial losses for the next several years.
We have incurred net losses in each year since our inception, including net losses of $8.6 million in 2018 and $26.4 million in 2017. As of March 31,
2019 we had an accumulated deficit of $226.2 million. We anticipate that our existing cash, cash equivalents and marketable securities will be
sufficient to fund our operations into the middle of 2019. Accordingly, these factors, among others, raise substantial doubt about our ability to
continue as a going concern. The amount of our future net losses will depend, in part, on the amount and timing of our expenses. These net losses have
had, and will continue to have, an adverse effect on our stockholders’ equity and working capital.
We are substantially dependent on our remaining employee and consultants to facilitate the consummation of the proposed Merger.
In connection with our restructuring in January 2019 and a further restructuring in March of 2019, we terminated all but one employee. Our ability to
successfully complete a strategic transaction depends in large part on our ability to retain the consulting services of certain of our former personnel,
particularly Adam Gridley, our President, Jonathan Lieber, our Interim Chief Financial Officer, and Stephen Kennedy, our Executive Vice President and
Chief Operating Officer. Despite our efforts to retain these individuals as consultants following their separation of service from the Company, one or
more may terminate their engagement with us on short notice. The loss of the services of any of these individuals could potentially harm our ability to
consummate the proposed Merger, as well as fulfill our reporting obligations as a public company.
The pendency of the proposed Merger could have an adverse effect on the trading price of our common stock and our business, financial condition
and prospects.
While there have been no significant adverse effects to date, the pendency of the proposed Merger could disrupt our business in many ways, including:
•

the attention of our remaining service providers may be directed toward the completion of the proposed Merger and related matters and
may be diverted from our day-to-day business operations; and
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•

third parties may seek to terminate or renegotiate their relationships with us as a result of the proposed Merger, whether pursuant to the
terms of their existing agreements with us otherwise.

Should they occur, any of these matters could adversely affect the trading price of our common stock or harm our business, financial condition and
prospects.
Risks Related to Our Historical Business
The FDA has indicated an additional Phase 3 clinical trial for NeoCart would be required before the FDA would consider accepting a BLA
submission for NeoCart.
On December 20, 2018, we had a telephonic meeting with senior members of the FDA. Based on the feedback received from the FDA, while the
NeoCart Phase 3 clinical trial resulted in certain compelling data, the FDA indicated that an additional Phase 3 clinical trial would need to be
completed before it would accept a submission of a BLA for NeoCart. The FDA indicated receptivity to novel clinical trial methodologies and
regenerative medicine advanced therapy designations in order to support additional data for a future potential submission. However, considering the
time and funding required to conduct such a trial, we discontinued the development of NeoCart and do not plan to submit a BLA.
We have historically been a clinical-stage cell therapy company with a limited operating history of developing late-stage product candidates. There
is a limited amount of information about us upon which to evaluate our product candidates and business prospects, making an investment in our
common stock unsuitable for many investors.
We have historically been a clinical-stage company focused on the development of restorative cell therapies (RCTs). We use the term RCT to refer to a
new class of products we are developing that are designed to offer patients rapid-onset pain relief and restored function through the repair of damaged
or worn tissue. We were formed in 2000 and have a limited operating history. Since inception we have devoted substantially all of our resources to the
development of our cell therapy technology platform, the clinical and preclinical advancement of our product candidates, the creation, licensing and
protection of related intellectual property rights and the provision of general and administrative support for these operations. We have not yet obtained
regulatory approval for any product candidates in any jurisdiction or generated any significant revenues from product sales. We have discontinued our
development of NeoCart and we are currently in the process of completing the Merger, as described elsewhere in these Risk Factors.
Our inability to utilize our net operating loss carryforwards before they expire may adversely affect our results of operations and financial condition.
As of December 31, 2018 we had federal and state net operating loss carryforwards of approximately $67 million and $67 million, respectively, which
may be utilized against future federal and state income taxes. In general, a corporation that undergoes an “ownership change” is subject to limitations
on its ability to utilize its pre-change net operating loss carryforwards (NOLs) to offset future taxable income. In general, an ownership change occurs if
the aggregate stock ownership of certain stockholders, generally stockholders beneficially owning five percent or more of our common stock, applying
certain look-through and aggregation rules, increases by more than 50% over such stockholders’ lowest percentage ownership during the testing
period, generally three years. Purchases of our common stock in amounts greater than specified levels, which will be beyond our control, could create a
limitation on our ability to utilize our NOLs for tax purposes in the future. In addition, the closing of a strategic transaction may result in the limitation
of our NOLs, which may affect the value we receive in such a strategic transaction. Limitations imposed on our ability to utilize NOLs could cause us
to pay U.S. federal and state income taxes earlier than we would otherwise be required if such limitations were not in effect and could cause such NOLs
to expire unused. Furthermore, we may not be able to generate sufficient taxable income to utilize our NOLs before they expire beginning in 2037. In
addition, at the state level there may be periods during which the use of NOLs is suspended or otherwise limited, which would accelerate or may
permanently increase state taxes owed. If any of these events occur, we may not derive some or all of the expected benefits from our NOLs, and our
results of operations and financial condition may be adversely affected as a result.
We may fail to comply with any of our obligations under existing agreements pursuant to which we license rights or technology, which could result
in the loss of rights or technology that are material to our business and as a result possibly material to a potential strategic partner.
We are a party to several technology licenses that are important to our business including material licenses from Purpose Co., Ltd., Angiotech
Pharmaceuticals (US), Inc. and Angiodevice International GmbH. The rights licensed under these agreements, including rights relating to our tissue
processor and bioadhesives are material to our cell therapy technology platform and the continued development of NeoCart and any
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future product candidates a strategic partner may choose to develop. These licenses impose various commercial, contingent payment, royalty,
insurance, indemnification and other obligations on us. If we fail to comply with these obligations, the licensor may have the right to terminate the
license, in which event we would lose valuable rights under our license agreements and the ability to develop or commercialize product candidates.
Any termination or reversion of our rights to under the foregoing agreements may have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects and results
of operations and could significantly impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic transaction on terms that are
favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
We may face product liability claims and, if successful claims are brought against us, we may incur substantial liability and costs. If the use of our
product candidates harms patients, or is perceived to harm patients even when such harm is unrelated to our product candidates, our regulatory
approvals could be revoked or otherwise negatively impacted and we could be subject to costly and damaging product liability claims.
The use of NeoCart in clinical trials exposes us to the risk of product liability claims. Product liability claims might be brought against us by
participants in clinical trials, consumers, healthcare providers, pharmaceutical companies or others selling or otherwise coming into contact with our
product candidates and any products for which we obtain marketing approval. There is a risk that NeoCart could result in future adverse events in
patients who were previously treated, and that such adverse events may not be detected for a long period of time. Such events could subject us to costly
litigation, and if we cannot successfully defend against product liability claims require us to pay substantial amounts of money to injured patients. In
addition, regardless of merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:
•

increased costs due to related litigation;

•

distraction of management’s attention from our primary business;

•

substantial monetary awards to patients or other claimants; and

•

potential impairment of our ability to successfully complete a potential strategic transaction.

We carry product liability insurance that we believe is sufficient in light of our historical clinical programs; however, we may not be able to maintain
insurance coverage at a reasonable cost or in sufficient amounts to protect us against losses due to liability. On occasion, large judgments have been
awarded in class action lawsuits based on cell or tissue therapies or medical treatments that had unanticipated adverse effects. In addition, under some
of our agreements with clinical trial sites, we were required to indemnify the sites and their personnel against product liability and other claims. A
successful product liability claim or series of claims brought against us or any third parties whom we are required to indemnify could cause our stock
price to decline further and, if judgments exceed our insurance coverage, could adversely affect our results of operations and business.
We do not carry insurance for all categories of risk that our business may encounter and we may not be able to receive or maintain insurance with
adequate levels of coverage. Any significant uninsured liability may require us to pay substantial amounts, which would adversely affect our financial
position and results of operations and could significantly impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic transaction
on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Changes in government funding for the FDA and other government agencies could hinder their ability to hire and retain key leadership and other
personnel, properly administer drug innovation, or prevent new products and services from being developed or commercialized by our life science
tenants, which could negatively impact our business.
The ability of the FDA to review and approve new products can be affected by a variety of factors, including budget and funding levels, government
closures or shutdowns, the ability to hire and retain key personnel, and statutory, regulatory, and policy changes. Average review times at the agency
have fluctuated in recent years as a result. In addition, government funding of other government agencies that fund research and development activities
is subject to the political process, which is inherently fluid and unpredictable. Budgetary pressures and or the closure of the federal government may
result in a reduced ability by the FDA to perform its role. Specifically, over the last several years, the U.S. government has shut down several times and
certain regulatory agencies, such as the FDA, have had to furlough critical employees. If a prolonged government shutdown occurs, it could delay the
ability of a prospective strategic partner to discuss any potential regulatory path forward for NeoCart and as a result delay the Merger or any potential
strategic transaction.
Legislative or regulatory healthcare reforms in the United States and abroad may make it more difficult and costly for a future partner to obtain
regulatory approval of NeoCart and to produce, market and distribute NeoCart if an approval is obtained.
From time to time, legislation is drafted and introduced in Congress that could significantly change the statutory provisions governing the regulatory
approval, manufacture and marketing of regulated products or the reimbursement thereof. In addition, FDA regulations and guidance are often revised
or reinterpreted by the FDA in ways that may significantly affect NeoCart or any other products that a strategic partner may
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choose to develop. Any new regulations or revisions or reinterpretations of existing regulations may impose additional costs or lengthen review times
of NeoCart or any future product candidates. Recent presidential and congressional elections in the U.S. could result in significant changes in, and
uncertainty with respect to, legislation, regulation and government policy that could significantly impact our business and the health care industry. We
cannot determine what effect changes in regulations, statutes, legal interpretation or policies, when and if promulgated, enacted or adopted may have
on our business in the future. Such changes could, among other things, require:
•

changes to manufacturing methods;

•

additional studies, including clinical studies;

•

recall, replacement, or discontinuance of NeoCart;

•

the payment of additional taxes; or

•

additional record keeping.

Each of these requirements would likely entail substantial time and cost and could adversely harm the future prospects for our business and our
financial results which could impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to
our stockholders, or at all.
We have identified material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting and may identify additional material weaknesses in the
future that may cause us to fail to meet our reporting obligations or result in material misstatements of our financial statements.
Our management team is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. Internal control over financial
reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements in accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. A material weakness is a deficiency, or a combination of deficiencies, in
internal control over financial reporting such that there is a reasonable possibility that a material misstatement of annual or interim financial statements
will not be prevented or detected on a timely basis.
We have identified a material weakness in our internal controls relating to the accounting for transactions that are either highly complex and/or
unusual in nature. In such instances, we seek to augment our internal accounting capabilities by obtaining assistance from third-parties who have
greater expertise in such areas. Examples of situations such as these include (but are not limited to) the determination of the initial and periodic fair
value of warrants that are liability classified and the accounting treatment for the termination of the Company’s collaboration agreement with Intrexon
Corporation (“Intrexon”). For example, during the third quarter of 2018, we identified a material weakness in our internal controls relating to the
valuation of the warrant liability. Because the valuation of the warrants is exceedingly complex and requires highly specialized skills to perform and
review, we use the assistance of a third-party service provider to perform such valuation. In the third quarter of 2018, the third-party service provider
made an error in the valuation that was not detected by management in its review process but was identified by our independent registered public
accounting firm. In the fourth quarter of 2018, we identified a material weakness in our internal controls related to the accounting treatment for the
contingent liability associated with the termination agreement entered into with Intrexon which terminated the Company’s collaboration agreement
with Intrexon. In this instance, we concluded after numerous discussions with our independent registered public accounting firm that we had
incorrectly accounted for the contingent liability. In both cases these items were discovered prior to the issuance of the financial statements. The
identified material weakness did not result in a misstatement to our consolidated financial statements or disclosures; however, it could result in
misstatements of certain account balances (such as warrant liability, change in fair value of warrant liability and accrued expenses due to Intrexon) or
disclosures that would result in a material misstatement to the annual or interim consolidated financial statements that would not be prevented or
detected. We have implemented additional review procedures, including engaging a second third-party service provider to assist in our review of the
work of the third-party service provider preparing the warrant valuation analysis and will seek to implement a similar procedure for other unusual or
complex transactions going forward.
We cannot assure you that we will not have additional material weaknesses or significant deficiencies in our internal control over financial reporting. If
we identify any other material weaknesses or significant deficiencies that may exist, the accuracy and timing of our financial reporting may be
adversely affected, we may be unable to maintain compliance with securities law requirements regarding timely filing of periodic reports in addition to
applicable stock exchange listing requirements. These could result in a material decline in our stock price and could significantly impair our ability to
successfully complete a potential strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Our internal computer systems, or those of our development partners, third-party clinical research organizations or other contractors or consultants,
may fail or suffer security breaches, which could result in a material disruption of our product development programs.
Despite the implementation of security measures, our internal computer systems and those of our development partners, third-party clinical research
organizations, data management organizations and other contractors and consultants are vulnerable to damage from computer viruses, unauthorized
access, natural disasters, terrorism, war and telecommunication and electrical failures. While we have not experienced any such system failure, accident
or security breach to date, if such an event were to occur and cause interruptions in our operations, it could result in a material disruption of our
programs. For example, the loss of any NeoCart clinical trial data could result in delays in our regulatory approval
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efforts and significantly increase our costs to recover or reproduce the data. To the extent that any disruption or security breach results in a loss of or
damage to our data or applications or other data or applications relating to our technology or product candidates, or inappropriate disclosure of
confidential or proprietary information, we could incur liabilities and the further development NeoCart or any future product candidates could be
delayed.
We rely on email and other messaging services in connection with our operations. We may be targeted by parties using fraudulent spoofing and
phishing emails to misappropriate passwords, payment information or other personal information or to introduce viruses through Trojan horse
programs or otherwise through our networks, computers, smartphones, tablets or other devices. Despite our efforts to mitigate the effectiveness of such
malicious email campaigns through a variety of control and non-electronic checks, spoofing and phishing may damage our business and increase our
costs. We do not currently maintain a cyber insurance policy. Any of these events or circumstances could materially adversely affect our business,
financial condition and operating results and could significantly impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic
transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
We use hazardous chemicals and biological materials in our business. Any claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of these
materials could be time consuming and costly. We may incur significant costs complying with environmental laws and regulations.
Our research and development and manufacturing processes involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, including chemicals and biological
materials. Our operations produce hazardous waste products. We cannot eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or discharge and any resultant
injury from these materials. We may be sued for any injury or contamination that results from our use or the use by third parties of these materials, and
our liability may exceed our insurance coverage and our total assets. Federal, state and local laws and regulations govern the use, manufacture, storage,
handling and disposal of these hazardous materials and specified waste products, as well as the discharge of pollutants into the environment and
human health and safety matters.
Compliance with environmental laws and regulations may be expensive and may impair our research, development and production efforts. If we fail to
comply with these requirements, we could incur substantial costs, including civil or criminal fines and penalties, clean-up costs or capital expenditures
for control equipment or operational changes necessary to achieve and maintain compliance. In addition, we cannot predict the impact on our business
of new or amended environmental laws or regulations or any changes in the way existing and future laws and regulations are interpreted and enforced.
Our employees or consultants may engage in misconduct or other improper activities, including noncompliance with regulatory standards and
requirements and insider trading.
We are exposed to the risk of employee and consultant fraud or other misconduct. Misconduct by employees or consultants could include intentional
failures to comply with the regulations of the FDA or foreign regulators, failure to provide accurate information to regulatory authorities, failure to
comply with manufacturing standards we have established, failure to comply with federal and state health care fraud and abuse laws and regulations in
the United States and abroad, failure to report financial information or data accurately, and failure to comply with our own internal company policies.
In particular, sales, marketing and business arrangements in the healthcare industry are subject to extensive laws and regulations intended to prevent
fraud, misconduct, kickbacks, self-dealing and other abusive practices. These laws and regulations may restrict or prohibit a wide range of pricing,
discounting, marketing and promotion, sales commission, customer incentive programs and other business arrangements. Employee or consultant
misconduct could also involve the improper use of information obtained in the course of clinical trials, which could result in regulatory sanctions and
cause harm to our reputation. We have adopted a code of business conduct and ethics, but it is not always possible to identify and deter employee
misconduct, and the precautions we take to detect and prevent this activity may not be effective in controlling unknown or unmanaged risks or losses
or in protecting us from governmental investigations or other actions or lawsuits stemming from a failure to comply with these laws or regulations. If
any such actions are instituted against us, and we are not successful in defending ourselves or asserting our rights, those actions could have a
significant impact on our business, including the imposition of significant fines or other sanctions.
In addition, during the course of our operations our directors, executives, employees and consultants may have access to material, nonpublic
information regarding our business, our results of operations or potential transactions we are considering. We may not be able to prevent a director,
executive, employee or consultant from trading in our common stock on the basis of, or while having access to, material, nonpublic information. If a
director, executive, employee or consultant was to be investigated or an action was to be brought against a director, executive, employee or consultant
for insider trading, it could have a negative impact on our reputation and our stock price. Such a claim, with or without merit, could also result in
substantial expenditures of time and money and divert attention of our management team from other tasks important to the success of our business.
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Costs associated with being a public reporting company are significant, and public reporting requirements divert significant company resources and
management attention.
We are subject to the reporting requirements of the Exchange Act and the other rules and regulations of the SEC. Compliance with the various
reporting and other requirements applicable to public reporting companies requires considerable time, attention of management and financial resources
and we will need to maintain such compliance in order to complete the proposed Merger.
Further, the listing requirements of Nasdaq require that we satisfy certain corporate governance requirements relating to director independence,
distributing annual and interim reports, stockholder meetings, approvals and voting, soliciting proxies, conflicts of interest and a code of conduct. Our
management and other personnel will need to devote a substantial amount of time to ensure that we comply with all of these requirements. Moreover,
the reporting requirements, rules and regulations will increase our legal and financial compliance costs and will make some activities more timeconsuming and costly. These reporting requirements, rules and regulations, coupled with the increase in potential litigation exposure associated with
being a public company, could also make it more difficult for us to obtain certain types of insurance, including directors’ and officers’ insurance, on
acceptable terms.
Our business is subject to the risks of earthquakes, fire, power outages, floods and other catastrophic events, and to interruption by manmade
problems such as terrorism. If any of our manufacturing, processing or storage facilities are damaged or destroyed, our business and prospects
would be adversely affected.
A significant natural disaster, such as an earthquake, fire or flood, or a significant power outage, could have a material adverse impact on our business,
operating results and financial condition. If any of our manufacturing, processing or storage facilities, or any of the equipment in such facilities were to
be damaged or destroyed, it may result a lack of any definitive offer to consummate a strategic transaction, or, if we receive such a definitive offer, the
terms may not be as favorable as anticipated or may not result in the consummation of a transaction.
We have historically produced materials for our clinical trials at our manufacturing facilities located in Waltham, Massachusetts, and produced our
critical raw materials for use in NeoCart production in our facilities located in Lexington, Massachusetts. If these facilities or the equipment in them are
significantly damaged or destroyed, a strategic partner may not be able to quickly or inexpensively replace such manufacturing capacity. In addition,
natural disasters could affect our third-party service providers’ and manufacturers ability to perform services and provide materials for us or a strategic
partner on a timely basis. If these third parties do not successfully carry out their contractual duties or meet expected deadlines, our efforts to complete
a strategic transaction may be impeded. For example, acts of terrorism could cause disruptions in our business or the business of our third-party service
providers, partners, customers or the economy as a whole which could significantly impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any
potential strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
We are increasingly dependent on information technology systems, infrastructure and data.
We are increasingly dependent upon information technology systems, infrastructure and data. Our computer systems may be vulnerable to service
interruption or destruction, malicious intrusion and random attack. Security breaches pose a risk that sensitive data, including intellectual property,
clinical data, trade secrets or personal information may be exposed to unauthorized persons or to the public. Cyber-attacks are increasing in their
frequency, sophistication and intensity, and have become increasingly difficult to detect. Cyber-attacks could include the deployment of harmful
malware, denial-of service, social engineering and other means to affect service reliability and threaten data confidentiality, integrity and availability.
Our key business partners face similar risks, and a security breach of their systems could adversely affect our security posture. While we continue to
invest data protection and information technology, there can be no assurance that our efforts will prevent service interruptions, or identify breaches in
our systems, that could adversely affect our business and operations and/or result in the loss of critical or sensitive information or the illegal transfer of
funds to unknown persons, which could result in financial, legal, business or reputational harm. Any of these issues could significantly impair our
ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Risks Related to Regulatory Approval
We are subject to numerous U.S. federal and state laws pertaining to health care fraud and abuse, including anti-kickback, self-referral, false claims
and fraud laws, and any violation by us of such laws could result in fines or other penalties.
The Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar worldwide anti-bribery laws generally prohibit companies and their intermediaries from making
improper payments to non-U.S. officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We cannot assure you that our internal control policies and
procedures will protect us from reckless or negligent acts committed by our employees, future distributors, partners, collaborators or agents. Violations
of these laws, or allegations of such violations, could result in fines, penalties or prosecution and have a negative impact on our business, results of
operations and reputation.
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Risks Related to Our Intellectual Property
Our ability to execute a strategic transaction may depend on our ability to protect our intellectual property and our proprietary technologies.
Our ability to execute a strategic transaction may depend in part on our ability to maintain patent protection and trade secret protection for our product
candidates, proprietary technologies and their uses as well as our ability to operate without infringing upon the proprietary rights of others. There can
be no assurance that our patent applications or those of our licensors will result in additional patents being issued or that issued patents will afford
sufficient protection against competitors with similar technology, nor can there be any assurance that the patents issued will not be infringed, designed
around, or invalidated by third parties. Even issued patents may later be found unenforceable or may be modified or revoked in proceedings instituted
by third parties before various patent offices or in courts. The degree of future protection for our proprietary rights is uncertain. Only limited protection
may be available and may not adequately protect our rights or permit us to gain or keep any competitive advantage. This failure to properly protect the
intellectual property rights relating to these product candidates could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results of
operations and ability to complete the Merger.
Composition-of-matter patents are generally considered to be the strongest form of intellectual property protection as such patents provide protection
without regard to any method of use. We cannot be certain that the claims in our patent applications covering composition-of-matter of our product
candidates will be considered patentable by the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and courts in the United States or by the patent offices and courts in
foreign countries, nor can we be certain that the claims in our issued composition-of-matter patents will not be found invalid or unenforceable if
challenged. Method-of-use patents protect the use of a product for the specified method. This type of patent does not prevent a competitor from making
and marketing a product that is identical to our product for a use that is outside the scope of the patented method. Moreover, even if competitors do not
actively promote their product for our targeted indications, physicians may prescribe these products “off-label.” Although off-label prescriptions may
infringe or contribute to the infringement of method-of-use patents, the practice is common and such infringement is difficult to prevent or prosecute.
The patent application process is subject to numerous risks and uncertainties, and there can be no assurance that we or any of our future development
partners will be successful in protecting our product candidates by obtaining and defending patents. These risks and uncertainties include the
following:
•

The U.S. Patent and Trademark Office and various foreign governmental patent agencies require compliance with a number of procedural,
documentary, fee payment and other provisions during the patent process. There are situations in which noncompliance can result in
abandonment or lapse of a patent or patent application, resulting in partial or complete loss of patent rights in the relevant jurisdiction. In
such an event, competitors might be able to enter the market earlier than would otherwise have been the case.

•

Patent applications may not result in any patents being issued.

•

Patents that may be issued or in-licensed may be challenged, invalidated, modified, revoked, circumvented, found to be unenforceable, or
otherwise may not provide any competitive advantage.

•

Our competitors, many of whom have substantially greater resources than we do and many of whom have made significant investments in
competing technologies, may seek or may have already obtained patents that will limit, interfere with, or eliminate our ability to make, use
and sell our potential product candidates.

•

There may be significant pressure on the U.S. government and international governmental bodies to limit the scope of patent protection
both inside and outside the United States for treatments that prove successful, as a matter of public policy regarding worldwide health
concerns.

•

Countries other than the United States may have patent laws less favorable to patentees than those upheld by U.S. courts, allowing foreign
competitors a better opportunity to create, develop, and market competing product candidates.

In addition, we rely on the protection of our trade secrets and proprietary know-how. Although we have taken steps to protect our trade secrets and
unpatented know-how, including entering into confidentiality agreements with third parties, and confidential information and inventions agreements
with employees, consultants and advisors, third parties may still obtain this information or may come upon this or similar information independently. If
any of these events occurs or if we otherwise lose protection for our trade secrets or proprietary know-how, the value of this information may be greatly
reduced.
If we or any of our future development or collaborative partners are sued for infringing intellectual property rights of third parties, it will be costly
and time consuming, and an unfavorable outcome in that litigation could have a material adverse effect on our business.
Our success also depends on our ability and the ability of our current or future development or collaborative partners to develop, manufacture, market
and sell our product candidates without infringing upon the proprietary rights of third parties. Numerous U.S. and foreign-issued patents
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and pending patent applications owned by third parties exist in the fields in which we are developing product candidates, some of which may contain
claims that overlap with the subject matter of our intellectual property or are directed at our product candidates, technologies or methods of
manufacture. When we become aware of patents held by third parties that may implicate the manufacture, development or commercialization of our
product candidates, we evaluate our need to license rights to such patents. If we need to license rights from third parties to manufacture, develop or
commercialize our product candidates, there can be no assurance that we will be able to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all.
Failure to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all could impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential
strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Because patent applications can take many years to issue there may be currently pending applications, unknown to us, that may later result in issued
patents upon which our product candidates or proprietary technologies may infringe. Similarly, there may be issued patents relevant to our product
candidates of which we are not aware.
There is a substantial amount of litigation involving patent and other intellectual property rights in the biologics industry generally. If a third-party
claims that we or any of our licensors, suppliers or development partners infringe upon a third-party’s intellectual property rights, we may have to:
•

seek to obtain licenses that may not be available on commercially reasonable terms, if at all;

•

abandon an infringing product candidate or redesign our products or processes to avoid infringement;

•

pay substantial damages including, in an exceptional case, treble damages and attorneys’ fees, which we may have to pay if a court decides
that the product candidate or proprietary technology at issue infringes upon or violates the third-party’s rights;

•

pay substantial royalties or fees or grant cross-licenses to our technology; or

•

defend litigation or administrative proceedings that may be costly whether we win or lose, and which could result in a substantial diversion
of our financial and management resources.

We may be involved in lawsuits to protect or enforce our patents or the patents of our licensors, which could be expensive, time consuming and
unsuccessful.
Third parties may infringe upon our patents or the patents of our licensors. To counter infringement or unauthorized use, we may be required to file
infringement claims, which can be expensive and time consuming. An adverse result in any litigation or defense proceedings could put one or more of
our patents at risk of being invalidated, found to be unenforceable or interpreted narrowly and could put our patent applications at risk of not issuing.
Furthermore, because of the substantial amount of discovery required in connection with intellectual property litigation, there is a risk that some of our
confidential information could be compromised by disclosure during this type of litigation.
Most of our competitors are larger than we are and have substantially greater resources. They are, therefore, likely to be able to sustain the costs of
complex patent litigation longer than we could. In addition, the uncertainties associated with litigation could have a material adverse effect on our
ability to raise the funds necessary to continue our clinical trials, continue our internal research programs, in-license needed technology, or enter into
development partnerships that would help us bring our product candidates to market.
In addition, any future patent litigation, interference or other administrative proceedings will result in additional expense and distraction of our
personnel. An adverse outcome in such litigation or proceedings may expose us, or any of our future development partners to loss of our proprietary
position, expose us to significant liabilities or require us to seek licenses that may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. Failure
to obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms or at all could impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic
transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Our issued patents could be found invalid or unenforceable if challenged in court which could have a material adverse effect on our business could
impair our ability to successfully complete a potential strategic transaction.
If we or any of our future development partners were to initiate legal proceedings against a third party to enforce a patent covering one of our product
candidates or one of our future product candidates, technologies or methods of manufacture, the defendant could counterclaim that our patent is
invalid or unenforceable. In patent litigation in the United States, defendant counterclaims alleging invalidity or unenforceability are commonplace.
Grounds for a validity challenge could be an alleged failure to meet any of several statutory requirements, including lack of novelty, obviousness or
non- enablement. Grounds for an unenforceability assertion could be an allegation that someone connected with prosecution of the patent withheld
relevant information from the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, or made a misleading statement, during prosecution. Third parties may also raise
similar claims before the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office even outside the context of litigation. The outcome following legal assertions of invalidity
and unenforceability is unpredictable. With respect to the validity question, for example, we cannot be certain that there is no invalidating prior art, of
which we and the patent examiner were unaware during prosecution. If a defendant were to prevail on a legal assertion of invalidity or
unenforceability, we would lose at least part, and perhaps all, of the patent protection on such product candidate. Such a loss of patent protection
would have a material adverse impact on our business and could impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential strategic
transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
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We may be subject to claims that our consultants or independent contractors have wrongfully used or disclosed alleged trade secrets of their other
clients or former employers to us, which could subject us to costly litigation.
As is common in the biotechnology industry, we engage the services of consultants to assist us in the development of our product candidates. Many of
these consultants were previously employed at, or may have previously or may be currently providing consulting services to, other biotechnology or
pharmaceutical companies, including our competitors or potential competitors. We may become subject to claims that our company or a consultant
inadvertently or otherwise used or disclosed trade secrets or other information proprietary to their former employers or their former or current clients.
Litigation may be necessary to defend against these claims. Even if we are successful in defending against these claims, litigation could result in
substantial costs and be a distraction to our management team and could impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any potential
strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
Changes in U.S. patent law could diminish the value of patents in general, which could materially impair our ability to protect our product
candidates.
As is the case with other biotechnology companies, our success is heavily dependent on intellectual property, particularly patents. Obtaining and
enforcing patents in the biotechnology industry involve technological and legal complexity. Therefore, obtaining and enforcing biotechnology
patents is costly, time consuming and inherently uncertain. In addition, Congress recently passed patent reform legislation. The Supreme Court has
ruled on several patent cases in recent years, either narrowing the scope of patent protection available in certain circumstances or weakening the rights
of patent owners in certain situations. In addition to increasing uncertainty with regard to our ability to obtain patents in the future, this combination of
events has created uncertainty with respect to the value of patents, once obtained. Depending on decisions by the U.S. Congress, the federal courts and
the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, the laws and regulations governing patents could change in unpredictable ways that would weaken our ability to
obtain new patents or to enforce our existing patents and patents we might obtain in the future.
We may not be able to protect our intellectual property rights throughout the world which could materially, negatively affect our business.
Filing, prosecuting and defending patents on product candidates in all countries throughout the world would be prohibitively expensive, and our
intellectual property rights in some countries outside the United States can be less extensive than those in the United States. In addition, the laws of
some foreign countries do not protect intellectual property rights to the same extent as federal and state laws in the United States. Consequently, we
may not be able to prevent third parties from practicing our inventions in all countries outside the United States, or from selling or importing products
made using our inventions in and into the United States or other jurisdictions. Competitors may use our technologies in jurisdictions where we have
not obtained patent protection to develop their own products and further, may export otherwise infringing products to territories where we have patent
protection, but enforcement is not as strong as that in the United States. These products may compete with our product candidates and our patents or
other intellectual property rights may not be effective or sufficient to prevent them from competing.
Many companies have encountered significant problems in protecting and defending intellectual property rights in foreign jurisdictions. The legal
systems of certain countries, particularly certain developing countries, do not favor the enforcement of patents and other intellectual property
protection, particularly those relating to biotechnology, which could make it difficult for us to stop the infringement of our patents or marketing of
competing products in violation of our proprietary rights generally. Proceedings to enforce our patent rights in foreign jurisdictions could result in
substantial costs and divert our efforts and attention from other aspects of our business, could put our patents at risk of being invalidated or interpreted
narrowly and our patent applications at risk of not issuing and could provoke third parties to assert claims against us. We may not prevail in any
lawsuits that we initiate and the damages or other remedies awarded, if any, may not be commercially meaningful. Accordingly, our efforts to enforce
our intellectual property rights around the world may be inadequate to obtain a significant commercial advantage from the intellectual property that
we develop or license and may adversely affect our business and could significantly impair our ability to successfully complete the Merger or any
potential strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
If our trademarks and trade names are not adequately protected, then we may not be able to build name recognition in our markets of interest and
our business may be adversely affected.
Our registered or unregistered trademarks or trade names may be challenged, infringed, circumvented or declared generic or determined to be infringing
on other marks. We may not be able to protect our rights to these trademarks and trade names, which we need to build name recognition by potential
partners or customers in our markets of interest. Over the long term, if we are unable to establish name recognition based on our trademarks and trade
names, then we may not be able to compete effectively and our business may be adversely affected.
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Risks Related to Our Common Stock
We have received a delisting letter from Nasdaq and there can be no assurance that our common stock will continue to be listed on Nasdaq, which
could impair our ability to consummate the proposed Merger.
As previously announced, on October 17, 2018, The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (Nasdaq) notified us that we did not meet Nasdaq’s $1.00 per share
minimum bid price requirement under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(a)(2) (Rule 5550(a)(2)) for continued listing on The Nasdaq Capital Market, and we
were given an initial grace period of 180 days, or until April 15, 2019, to regain compliance with Rule 5550(a)(2).
On April 16, 2019, we received a letter (the Letter) from the Nasdaq Listing Qualifications Staff (the Staff) notifying the Company that, based upon the
Company’s continuing non-compliance with Rule 5550(a)(2), the Staff had determined that the Company’s common stock would be delisted from
Nasdaq unless the Company timely requests a hearing before a Nasdaq Hearings Panel (the Panel). The Letter also noted that the Company was not
eligible for a second 180 day grace period as it does not comply with the stockholders’ equity initial listing requirement for The Nasdaq Capital
Market.
Accordingly, we timely requested a hearing before the Panel, which has been scheduled for May 16, 2019. The Company’s common stock will
continue to trade on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “HSGX” until the Panel issues its decision following the hearing and through the
expiration of any additional extension period granted by the Panel. There can be no assurance that the Panel will grant the Company’s request for
continued listing. If the Company’s common stock ceases to be listed for trading on Nasdaq, the Company expects that its common stock would be
traded on the over-the-counter market.
If our request for an additional extension period from the Panel is not successful, we will be subject to delisting by Nasdaq and would not be able to
satisfy certain closing conditions under the Merger Agreement. Even if we regain compliance with Nasdaq’s listing requirements, we cannot assure you
that we will be able to main compliance in future periods.
We received a deficiency letter in December 2018 from the (the Staff of Nasdaq notifying the Company that it was not in compliance with Nasdaq
Listing Rule 5550(b)(2). If we were to fail to regain compliance, our shares could be delisted from the Nasdaq Capital Market, which could
materially reduce the liquidity of our common stock and have an adverse effect on our market price. A delisting could limit our ability to
consummate the proposed Merger.
On December 19, 2018, we received a deficiency letter from the Staff notifying us that for the last 30 consecutive business days prior to December 18,
2018, the market value of our listed securities were less than $35 million, which does not meet the requirement for continued listing on The Nasdaq
Capital Market under Nasdaq Listing Rule 5550(b)(2) (Rule 5550(b)(2)). In accordance with Nasdaq Listing Rule 5810(c)(3)(C), Nasdaq has provided
us with 180 calendar days, or until June 17, 2019, to regain compliance with Rule 5550(b)(2). If we regain compliance with Rule 5550(b)(2), Nasdaq
will provide written confirmation to us and close the matter. If we do not regain compliance with this requirement by June 17, 2019, we will receive
written notification from the Staff that our securities are subject to delisting. At that time, we may appeal the delisting determination to a Hearing
Panel.
The December 2018 deficiency letter did not result in the delisting of our common stock from The Nasdaq Capital Market. To regain compliance with
Rule 5550(b)(2), the market value of our listed securities must meet or exceed $35 million for a minimum of ten consecutive business days during the
180-day grace period ending on or before June 17, 2019 (Nasdaq has the discretion to monitor compliance for as long as 20 consecutive business days
before deeming us in compliance). We could also regain compliance with Nasdaq’s alternative continued listing requirements by having stockholders’
equity of $2.5 million or more, or net income from continuing operations of $500,000 in the most recently completed fiscal year.
A delisting would also likely make it more difficult for us to obtain financing through the sale of our equity. Any such sale of equity would likely be
more dilutive to our current stockholders than would be the case if our shares were listed.
We may not satisfy The Nasdaq Capital Market’s other requirements for continued listing. If we cannot satisfy these requirements, Nasdaq could
delist our common stock and could impact our ability to consummate the proposed Merger.
Our common stock is listed on The Nasdaq Capital Market under the symbol “HSGX”. To continue to be listed on Nasdaq, we are required to satisfy a
number of conditions. Other than the deficiency letter discussed in the immediately prior risk factor, we previously received two letters from Nasdaq,
with the first letter in November 2016 notifying us of our failure to maintain a minimum market value of listed securities of $50,000,000 for the 30
consecutive business days. We subsequently regained compliance with this listing standard in March 2017. The second letter in May 2017 notified us
of our failure to maintain a minimum of $10,000,000 in stockholders’ equity as required for companies trading on The Nasdaq Global Market. In
response to the second letter, we transferred our securities to The Nasdaq Capital Market in June 2017 to regain compliance with the minimum
stockholders’ equity requirement.
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We cannot assure you that we will be able to satisfy the Nasdaq listing requirements in the future. If we are delisted from Nasdaq, trading in our shares
of common stock may be conducted, if available, on the “OTC Bulletin Board Service” or, if available, via another market. In the event of such
delisting, an investor would likely find it significantly more difficult to dispose of, or to obtain accurate quotations as to the value of the shares of our
common stock, and our ability to raise future capital through the sale of the shares of our common stock or other securities convertible into or
exercisable for our common stock could be severely limited. A determination could also then be made that our common stock is a “penny stock” which
would require brokers trading in our common stock to adhere to more stringent rules and possibly result in a reduced level of trading. This could have a
long-term impact on our ability to raise future capital through the sale of our common stock.
The trading price of our common stock has been, and is likely to continue to be, volatile, and you might not be able to sell your shares at or above
the price you paid.
Our stock price has been and will likely continue to be volatile for the foreseeable future. The realization of any of the risks described in these risk
factors or other unforeseen risks could have a dramatic and adverse effect on the market price of our common stock. The trading price of our common
stock is likely to continue to be highly volatile and could be subject to wide fluctuations in response to various factors, some of which are beyond our
control. These factors include those discussed elsewhere in this “Risk Factors” section and others such as:
•

our ability to consummate a strategic transaction, the value of such transaction including whether it is deemed to enhance stockholder
value or deliver expected benefits;

•

announcements about us or about our competitors including clinical trial results, regulatory approvals, or new product candidate
introductions and the revenue and growth potential of such new products;

•

developments concerning our current or future development partners, licensors or product candidate manufacturers;

•

litigation and other developments relating to our patents or other proprietary rights or those of our competitors;

•

conditions in the pharmaceutical or biotechnology industries, regulations or concerns related to cell and gene therapies, and the economy
as a whole;

•

governmental regulation and legislation;

•

the recruitment or departure of members of our Board, management team or other key personnel;

•

changes in our operating results;

•

any changes in the financial projections we may provide to the public, our failure to meet these projections, or changes in
recommendations by any securities analysts that elect to follow our common stock;

•

any change in securities analysts’ estimates of our performance, or our failure to meet analysts’ expectations;

•

the expiration of market standoff or contractual lock-up agreements;

•

sales or potential sales of substantial amounts of our common stock; and

•

price and volume fluctuations in the overall stock market or resulting from inconsistent trading volume levels of our shares.

In recent months and years, the stock market in general, and the market for pharmaceutical and biotechnological companies in particular, has
experienced extreme price and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to changes in the operating performance of the
companies whose stock is experiencing those price and volume fluctuations. In addition, Brexit or actions taken by the current presidential
administration and Congress could adversely affect United States, European or worldwide economic or market conditions and could contribute to
instability and volatility in global financial markets. Broad market and industry factors may seriously affect the market price of our common stock,
regardless of our actual operating performance.
Our quarterly operating results may fluctuate substantially, which may cause the price of our common stock to fluctuate substantially.
We expect our quarterly operating results to be subject to fluctuations. Our net income or loss and other operating results may be affected by numerous
factors, including:
•

our ability to complete the Merger or any strategic transaction;

•

derivative instruments recorded at fair value, including but not limited to the change in fair value of warrants issued in connection with a
private placement we completed in 2016;

•

asset impairments, severance costs, lease termination costs, transaction and other costs triggered by a wind down of our operations; and

•

any lawsuits in which we may become involved.
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If our quarterly operating results fall below the expectations of investors or securities analysts, the price of our common stock could decline
substantially. Furthermore, any quarterly fluctuations in our operating results may, in turn, cause the price of our stock to fluctuate substantially.
We expect our stock price to continue to be volatile, and securities class action litigation has often been instituted against companies following
periods of volatility of their stock price or after the announcement of a change in control transaction. Any such litigation, if instituted against us,
could result in substantial costs and a diversion of our management’s attention and resources.
In the past, following periods of volatility in the overall market and the market price of a particular company’s securities, securities class action
litigation has often been instituted against these companies. This litigation, if instituted against us, could result in substantial costs and a diversion of
our management’s attention and resources. This litigation, if instituted against us could also impair our ability to successfully complete a potential
strategic transaction on terms that are favorable to our stockholders, or at all.
If securities analysts do not publish research, publish unfavorable research about our business or cease coverage of our company, our stock price
and trading volume could decline.
The trading market for our common stock will depend in part on the research and reports that securities and industry analysts publish about us or our
business. In the event one or more of the analysts who covers us downgrades our stock or publishes unfavorable research about our business, or if our
clinical trials or operating results fail to meet the analysts’ expectations, our stock price would likely decline. Recently, several securities analysts
ceased coverage of our company, and if one or more of the remaining analysts ceases coverage of our company or fails to publish reports on us
regularly, demand for our stock could decrease, which could cause our stock price and trading volume to decline.
Raising additional funds by issuing securities or through licensing or lending arrangements may cause dilution to our existing stockholders, restrict
our operations or require us to relinquish proprietary rights.
To the extent that we raise additional capital by issuing equity securities, the share ownership of existing stockholders will be diluted. Any future debt
financing may involve covenants that restrict our operations, including limitations on our ability to incur liens or additional debt, pay dividends,
redeem our stock, make certain investments, and engage in certain merger, consolidation, or asset sale transactions. In addition, if we seek funds
through arrangements with collaborative partners, these arrangements may require us to relinquish rights to some of our technologies or product
candidates or otherwise agree to terms unfavorable to us.
We have never paid and do not intend to pay cash dividends and, consequently, your ability to achieve a return on your investment will depend on
appreciation in the price of our common stock.
We have never paid cash dividends on any of our capital stock, and we currently intend to retain future earnings, if any, to fund the development and
growth of our business. Therefore, you are not likely to receive any dividends on our common stock for the foreseeable future or at all. Since we do not
intend to pay dividends, your ability to receive a return on your investment will depend on any future appreciation in the market value of our common
stock. There is no guarantee that our common stock will appreciate or even maintain the price at which you have purchased it.
Provisions in our amended and restated certificate of incorporation and amended and restated bylaws and Delaware law might discourage, delay or
prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management and, therefore, depress the market price of our common stock.
Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws contain provisions that could depress the market price of our common stock by acting to discourage, delay
or prevent a change in control of our company or changes in our management that the stockholders of our company may deem advantageous. These
provisions among other things:
•

establish a classified board of directors so that not all members of our board are elected at one time;

•

permit the board of directors to establish the number of directors;

•

provide that directors may only be removed “for cause”;

•

require super-majority voting to amend some provisions in our certificate of incorporation and bylaws;

•

authorize the issuance of “blank check” preferred stock that our board of directors could use to implement a stockholder rights plan;

•

eliminate the ability of our stockholders to call special meetings of stockholders;

•

prohibit stockholder action by written consent, which requires all stockholder actions to be taken at a meeting of our stockholders;
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•

provide that the board of directors is expressly authorized to make, alter or repeal our bylaws; and

•

establish advance notice requirements for nominations for election to our board of directors or for proposing matters that can be acted upon
by stockholders at annual stockholder meetings.

In addition, Section 203 of the Delaware General Corporation Law may discourage, delay or prevent a change in control of our company. Section 203
imposes certain restrictions on merger, business combinations and other transactions between us and holders of 15% or more of our common stock.
We are an emerging growth company and the extended transition period for complying with new or revised financial accounting standards and
reduced disclosure and governance requirements applicable to emerging growth companies could make our common stock less attractive to
investors.
We are an emerging growth company. Under the Jumpstart Our Business Startups Act, emerging growth companies can delay adopting new or revised
accounting standards until such time as those standards apply to private companies. We plan to avail ourselves of this exemption from new or revised
accounting standards and, therefore, we may not be subject to the same new or revised accounting standards as other public companies that are not
emerging growth companies.
For as long as we continue to be an emerging growth company, we also intend to take advantage of certain other exemptions from various reporting
requirements that are applicable to other public companies, including reduced disclosure obligations regarding executive compensation in our
periodic reports and proxy statements, exemptions from the requirements of holding a nonbinding advisory stockholder vote on executive
compensation and any golden parachute payments not previously approved, exemption from the requirement of auditor attestation on our internal
control over financial reporting and exemption from any requirement that may be adopted by the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
regarding mandatory audit firm rotation or a supplement to the auditor’s report providing additional information about the audit and the financial
statements (auditor discussion and analysis). If we do, the information that we provide stockholders may be different than what is available with respect
to other public companies.
Investors could find our common stock less attractive because we will rely on these exemptions, which may make it more difficult for investors to
compare our business with other companies in our industry. If some investors find our common stock less attractive as a result, there may be a less
active trading market for our common stock and our stock price may be more volatile. In addition, it may be difficult for us to raise additional capital as
and when we need it. If we are unable to do so, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially and adversely affected.
We will remain an emerging growth company until the earliest of: (1) the end of the fiscal year in which the market value of our common stock that is
held by non-affiliates exceeds $700.0 million as of the end of the second fiscal quarter; (2) the end of the fiscal year in which we have total annual
gross revenue of $1.0 billion or more during such fiscal year; (3) the date on which we issue more than $1.0 billion in non-convertible debt in a threeyear period or (4) December 31, 2019, the end of the fiscal year following the fifth anniversary of the completion of our initial public offering.
Item 2.

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.

None.
Item 3.

Defaults Upon Senior Securities.

None.
Item 4.

Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not Applicable.
Item 5.

Other Information.

None.
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Item 6.

Exhibits.

Exhibit

Description

3.1

Sixth Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (filed as Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on
December 8, 2014, and incorporated herein by reference)

3.2

Amended and Restated Bylaws (filed as Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K as filed on December 8, 2014, and
incorporated herein by reference)

10.1*

Separation Agreement dated January 23, 2019 between the Registrant and Donald Haut, Ph.D.

10.2*

Separation Agreement dated January 23, 2019 between the Registrant and Lynne Kelley, M.D., FACs

10.3*

Separation Agreement dated March 18, 2019 between the Registrant and Adam Gridley

10.4*

Separation Agreement dated March 19, 2019 between the Registrant and Stephen Kennedy

31.1*
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Exhibit 10.1
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
830 Winter Street
Waltham, MA 02451
January 23, 2019
Dear Don:
This letter (the “Agreement”) is to confirm the agreement between you and Histogenics Corporation (the “Company”) in connection with the
termination of your employment with the Company.
1.

Termination Date. Your employment with the Company will terminate on January 23, 2019 (the “Termination Date”).

2.

Effective Date and Revocation. You have up to 21 days after you receive this Agreement to review it (the “Release Deadline”). You are
advised to consult an attorney of your own choosing before signing this Agreement. Furthermore, you have up to seven days after you sign
this Agreement to revoke it. If you wish to revoke this Agreement after signing it, you may do so by delivering a letter of revocation to me.
If you do not revoke this Agreement, the eighth day after the date you sign it will be the “Effective Date.” Because of the seven-day
revocation period, no part of this Agreement will become effective or enforceable until the Effective Date.

3.

Salary and Vacation Pay. On the Termination Date, the Company paid you $23,861,59, less all applicable withholdings. This amount
represents all of your unpaid salary earned through the Termination Date and all of your accrued but unused vacation time or PTO and
unpaid expenses. You acknowledge that the only payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive from the Company in the future are
those specified in this Agreement.

4.

Severance Pay.
(a)

Pursuant to the terms set forth in your employment offer letter with the Company effective May 16, 2017 (the “Offer Letter”), the
Company will continue to pay you an amount equal to your current base salary for a period of 9 months after the Termination Date
in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures, starting after the Effective Date. The aggregate amount of these
severance payments equals $283,061, less all applicable withholdings. These payments will commence within 30 days of the
Release Deadline and, once they commence, they will be retroactive to the Termination Date. If you breach any provision of this
Agreement, you understand that no unpaid severance payments will be made; however, in such event this Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect.

(b)

Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the Executive Retention Bonus Plan dated October 1, 2018, you will be paid an aggregate of
$94,354, less applicable withholdings, within 30 days of the Release Deadline.
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5.

COBRA Premiums. You will receive information about your right to continue your group health insurance coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) after the Termination Date. In order to continue your coverage, you must
file the required election form. If you sign and do not revoke this Agreement and elect to continue group health insurance coverage, then
the Company will pay the employer portion of the monthly premium under COBRA for you and, if applicable, your dependents until the
earliest of (a) 9 months after the Termination Date, (b) the expiration of your continuation coverage under COBRA or (c) the date when you
receive substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment.

6.

Stock Options. The Company granted you options (the “Options”) to purchase up to 300,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock on
terms and conditions specified in certain Notice of Stock Option Award and Stock Option Agreement (the “Option Agreements”). As of the
Termination Date, the Options are vested with respect to 157,500 shares. Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreements, the Options shall
terminate with respect to all unvested shares as of the Termination Date and, unless exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option
Agreements prior to such time, the Options shall terminate with respect to all vested shares on the date that is 90 days after the Termination
Date. You acknowledge and agree that you have no stock or equity rights of any kind in the Company except as described under this
Section 6.

7.

Release of All Claims. In consideration for the severance and COBRA payments described in Paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, you waive, release and promise never to assert any claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against
the Company or its predecessors, successors or past, present or future subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants,
attorneys, agents, assigns, insurers and employee benefit plans and their administrators and fiduciaries with respect to any matter, including
(without limitation) any matter related to your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment, including (without
limitation) claims to attorneys’ fees or costs, claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional distress, defamation, invasion
of privacy, fraud, breach of contract (express or implied) or breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claims of discrimination,
harassment retaliation and/or civil rights, claims relating to wages or compensation, claims under M.G.L. c. 149, §§148 and 150 (also
known as the Massachusetts Wage Act), claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Massachusetts Fair Employment
Practices Act, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with
Disabilities Act and all other laws and regulations relating to employment. However, this release covers only those claims that arose prior
to the execution of this Agreement and only those claims that may be waived by applicable law. Execution of this Agreement does not bar
any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Agreement.
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8.

Waiver. You expressly waive and release any and all rights and benefits under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code (or any
analogous law of any other state), which reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

9.

No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability, any
wrongdoing or any violation of law.

10.

Other Agreements. At all times in the future, you will remain bound by your Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Solicitation
Agreement with the Company, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement
renders null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company and constitutes the entire agreement between you and the
Company regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified only in a written document signed by you and
a duly authorized officer of the Company.

11.

Confidentiality of Agreement. You agree that you will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement, except that you may
disclose such information to your spouse, attorney or tax adviser if such individuals agree that they will not disclose to others the existence
or terms of this Agreement.

12.

No Disparagement. You agree that you will never make any negative or disparaging statements (orally or in writing) about the Company
or its stockholders, directors, officers, employees, products, services or business practices, except as required by law.

13.

Company Property. You represent that you have returned to the Company all property that belongs to the Company, including (without
limitation) copies of documents that belong to the Company and files stored on your computer(s) that contain information belonging to the
Company.

14.

Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full
force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.

15.

Choice of Law. This Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(other than their choice-of-law provisions).

16.

Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together will
constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile
signature will be deemed an original and valid signature.

Dr. Haut
Page 4
Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
Very truly yours,
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Adam Gridley
Name: Adam Gridley
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
I agree to the terms of this Agreement, and I am voluntarily signing this release of all claims. I acknowledge that I have read and understand this
Agreement, and I understand that I cannot pursue any of the claims and rights that I have waived in this Agreement at any time in the future.

Signed: /s/ Donald Haut

Dated: January 23, 2019
Donald Haut, Ph.D.
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PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, INVENTIONS AND
NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT

Exhibit 10.2
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
830 Winter Street
Waltham, MA 02451
January 23, 2019
Dear Lynne:
This letter (the “Agreement”) is to confirm the agreement between you and Histogenics Corporation (the “Company”) in connection with the
termination of your employment with the Company.
1.

Termination Date. Your employment with the Company will terminate on January 23, 2019 (the “Termination Date”).

2.

Effective Date and Revocation. You have up to 21 days after you receive this Agreement to review it (the “Release Deadline”). You are
advised to consult an attorney of your own choosing before signing this Agreement. Furthermore, you have up to seven days after you sign
this Agreement to revoke it. If you wish to revoke this Agreement after signing it, you may do so by delivering a letter of revocation to me.
If you do not revoke this Agreement, the eighth day after the date you sign it will be the “Effective Date.” Because of the seven-day
revocation period, no part of this Agreement will become effective or enforceable until the Effective Date.

3.

Salary and Vacation Pay. On the Termination Date, the Company paid you $12,586.54, less all applicable withholdings. This amount
represents all of your unpaid salary earned through the Termination Date and all of your accrued but unused vacation time or PTO. You
acknowledge that the only payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive from the Company in the future are those specified in this
Agreement.

4.

Severance Pay.
(a)

Pursuant to the terms set forth in your employment offer letter with the Company effective July 31, 2018 (the “Offer Letter”), the
Company will continue to pay you an amount equal to your current base salary for a period of 6 months after the Termination Date
in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures, starting after the Effective Date. The aggregate amount of these
severance payments equals $192,500, less all applicable withholdings. These payments will commence within 30 days of the
Release Deadline and, once they commence, they will be retroactive to the Termination Date. If you breach any provision of this
Agreement, you understand that no unpaid severance payments will be made; however, in such event this Agreement shall remain
in full force and effect.

(b)

Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the Executive Officer Retention Bonus Plan dated October 1, 2018, you will be paid an
aggregate of $96,250, less applicable withholdings, within 30 days of the Release Deadline.
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5.

COBRA Premiums. You will receive information about your right to continue your group health insurance coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) after the Termination Date. In order to continue your coverage, you must
file the required election form. If you sign and do not revoke this Agreement and elect to continue group health insurance coverage, then
the Company will pay the employer portion of the monthly premium under COBRA for you and, if applicable, your dependents until the
earliest of (a) 6 months after the Termination Date, (b) the expiration of your continuation coverage under COBRA or (c) the date when you
receive substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment.

6.

Stock Options. The Company granted you options (the “Options”) to purchase up to 200,000 shares of the Company’s Common Stock on
terms and conditions specified in certain Notice of Stock Option Award and Stock Option Agreement (the “Option Agreements”). As of the
Termination Date, the Options are vested with respect to no shares. Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreements, the Options shall
terminate with respect to all unvested shares as of the Termination Date and, unless exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option
Agreements prior to such time, the Options shall terminate with respect to all vested shares on the date that is 90 days after the Termination
Date. You acknowledge and agree that you have no stock or equity rights of any kind in the Company except as described under this
Section 6.

7.

Release of All Claims. In consideration for the severance and COBRA payments described in Paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, you waive, release and promise never to assert any claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against
the Company or its predecessors, successors or past, present or future subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants,
attorneys, agents, assigns, insurers and employee benefit plans and their administrators and fiduciaries with respect to any matter, including
(without limitation) any matter related to your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment, including (without
limitation) claims to attorneys’ fees or costs, claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional distress, defamation, invasion
of privacy, fraud, breach of contract (express or implied) or breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claims of discrimination,
harassment retaliation and/or civil rights, claims relating to wages or compensation, claims under M.G.L. c. 149, §§148 and 150 (also
known as the Massachusetts Wage Act), claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Massachusetts Fair Employment
Practices Act, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with
Disabilities Act and all other laws and regulations relating to employment. However, this release covers only those claims that arose prior
to the execution of this Agreement and only those claims that may be waived by applicable law. Execution of this Agreement does not bar
any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Agreement.
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8.

Waiver. You expressly waive and release any and all rights and benefits under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code (or any
analogous law of any other state), which reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

9.

No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability, any
wrongdoing or any violation of law.

10.

Other Agreements. At all times in the future, you will remain bound by your Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Solicitation
Agreement with the Company, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement, this Agreement
renders null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company and constitutes the entire agreement between you and the
Company regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified only in a written document signed by you and
a duly authorized officer of the Company.

11.

Confidentiality of Agreement. You agree that you will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement, except that you may
disclose such information to your spouse, attorney or tax adviser if such individuals agree that they will not disclose to others the existence
or terms of this Agreement.

12.

No Disparagement. You agree that you will never make any negative or disparaging statements (orally or in writing) about the Company
or its stockholders, directors, officers, employees, products, services or business practices, except as required by law.

13.

Company Property. You represent that you have returned to the Company all property that belongs to the Company, including (without
limitation) copies of documents that belong to the Company and files stored on your computer(s) that contain information belonging to the
Company.

14.

Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full
force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.

15.

Choice of Law. This Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(other than their choice-of-law provisions).

16.

Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together will
constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile
signature will be deemed an original and valid signature.
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Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
Very truly yours,
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Adam Gridley
Name: Adam Gridley
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
I agree to the terms of this Agreement, and I am voluntarily signing this release of all claims. I acknowledge that I have read and understand this
Agreement, and I understand that I cannot pursue any of the claims and rights that I have waived in this Agreement at any time in the future.

Signed: /s/ Lynne Kelley

Dated: January 23, 2019
Lynne Kelley, M.D., FACs
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NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT

Exhibit 10.3
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
830 Winter Street
Waltham, MA 02451
March 18, 2019
Dear Adam:
This letter (the “Agreement”) is to confirm the agreement between you and Histogenics Corporation (the “Company”) in connection with the
termination of your employment with the Company.
1.

Termination Date. Your employment with the Company will terminate on March 22, 2019 (the “Termination Date”). However, you will
continue to serve in the statutory roles of president, secretary and treasurer of the Company under applicable Delaware law, but you will not
receive compensation for such roles and you will not be treated as an employee by virtue of holding such roles. You will also remain a
director of the Company. On or prior to the Termination Date, you and the Company shall execute the Consulting Agreement attached
hereto as Exhibit A.

2.

Effective Date and Revocation. You have up to 21 days after you receive this Agreement to review it (the “Release Deadline”). You are
advised to consult an attorney of your own choosing before signing this Agreement. Furthermore, you have up to seven days after you sign
this Agreement to revoke it. If you wish to revoke this Agreement after signing it, you may do so by delivering a letter of revocation to me.
If you do not revoke this Agreement, the eighth day after the date you sign it will be the “Effective Date.” Because of the seven-day
revocation period, no part of this Agreement will become effective or enforceable until the Effective Date.

3.

Salary and Vacation Pay. On the Termination Date, the Company paid you $28,270.19, less all applicable withholdings. This amount
represents all of your unpaid salary earned through the Termination Date and all of your accrued but unused vacation time or PTO and
unpaid expenses. You acknowledge that the only payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive from the Company in the future are
those specified in this Agreement.

4.

Severance Pay.
(a)

Pursuant to the terms set forth in your employment agreement with the Company effective April 26, 2014, the Company is
obligated to pay you an amount equal to your current base salary for a period of 12 months after the Termination Date in
accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures, starting after the Effective Date. The aggregate amount of these
severance payments equals $478,065, less all applicable withholdings. However, the Company has determined that it is in its best
interest to pay you such severance payments in a lump sum amount and the full amount of $478,065, less all applicable
withholdings, will be paid to you within 30 days of the Release Deadline. If you breach any provision of this Agreement, you
understand that no unpaid severance payments will be made; however, in such event this Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect.
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(b)

Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Executive Retention Bonus Plan dated January 25, 2019, you will
be paid an aggregate of $191,200, less applicable withholdings, within 30 days of the Release Deadline.

5.

COBRA Premiums. You will receive information about your right to continue your group health insurance coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) after the Termination Date. In order to continue your coverage, you must
file the required election form. If you sign and do not revoke this Agreement and elect to continue group health insurance coverage, then
the Company will pay the employer portion of the monthly premium under COBRA for you and, if applicable, your dependents until the
earliest of (a) 9 months after the Termination Date, (b) the expiration of your continuation coverage under COBRA or (c) the date when you
receive substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment.

6.

Stock Options. The Company granted you options (the “Options”) to purchase up to 1,049,655 shares of the Company’s Common Stock on
terms and conditions specified in certain Notice of Stock Option Awards and Stock Option Agreements (the “Option Agreements”). As of
the Termination Date, the Options are vested with respect to 664,133 shares. Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreements, the Options
shall terminate with respect to all unvested shares as of the Termination Date and, unless exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Option Agreements prior to such time, the Options shall terminate with respect to all vested shares on the date that is 90 days after the
Termination Date. You acknowledge and agree that you have no stock or equity rights of any kind in the Company except as described
under this Section 6.

7.

Release of All Claims. In consideration for the severance and COBRA payments described in Paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, you waive, release and promise never to assert any claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against
the Company or its predecessors, successors or past, present or future subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants,
attorneys, agents, assigns, insurers and employee benefit plans and their administrators and fiduciaries with respect to any matter, including
(without limitation) any matter related to your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment, including (without
limitation) claims to attorneys’ fees or costs, claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional distress, defamation, invasion
of privacy, fraud, breach of contract (express or implied) or breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claims of discrimination,
harassment retaliation and/or civil rights, claims relating to wages or compensation, claims under M.G.L. c. 149, §§148 and 150 (also
known as the Massachusetts Wage Act), claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Massachusetts Fair Employment
Practices Act, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with
Disabilities Act and all other laws and regulations relating to employment. However, this release covers only those claims that arose prior
to the execution of this Agreement and only those claims that may be waived by applicable law. Execution of this Agreement does not bar
any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Agreement.
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8.

Waiver. You expressly waive and release any and all rights and benefits under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code (or any
analogous law of any other state), which reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

9.

No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability, any
wrongdoing or any violation of law.

10.

Other Agreements. At all times in the future, you will remain bound by your Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Solicitation
Agreement with the Company, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit B. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement and the
Consulting Agreement, this Agreement renders null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company and constitutes the entire
agreement between you and the Company regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified only in a
written document signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

11.

Confidentiality of Agreement. You agree that you will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement, except that you may
disclose such information to your spouse, attorney or tax adviser if such individuals agree that they will not disclose to others the existence
or terms of this Agreement.

12.

No Disparagement. You agree that you will never make any negative or disparaging statements (orally or in writing) about the Company
or its stockholders, directors, officers, employees, products, services or business practices, except as required by law.

13.

Company Property. You represent that you have returned to the Company all property that belongs to the Company, including (without
limitation) copies of documents that belong to the Company and files stored on your computer(s) that contain information belonging to the
Company.

14.

Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full
force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.

15.

Choice of Law. This Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(other than their choice-of-law provisions).

16.

Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together will
constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile
signature will be deemed an original and valid signature.
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Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
Very truly yours,
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Joshua Baltzell
Name: Joshua Baltzell
Title: Chairman of the Board of Directors
I agree to the terms of this Agreement, and I am voluntarily signing this release of all claims. I acknowledge that I have read and understand this
Agreement, and I understand that I cannot pursue any of the claims and rights that I have waived in this Agreement at any time in the future.

Signed: /s/ Adam Gridley

Dated: March 19, 2019
Adam Gridley
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Exhibit 10.4
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
830 Winter Street
Waltham, MA 02451
March 19, 2019
Dear Stephen:
This letter (the “Agreement”) is to confirm the agreement between you and Histogenics Corporation (the “Company”) in connection with the
termination of your employment with the Company.
1.

Termination Date. Your employment with the Company will terminate on March 22, 2019 (the “Termination Date”). On or prior to the
Termination Date, you and the Company shall execute the Consulting Agreement attached hereto as Exhibit A.

2.

Effective Date and Revocation. You have up to 21 days after you receive this Agreement to review it (the “Release Deadline”). You are
advised to consult an attorney of your own choosing before signing this Agreement. Furthermore, you have up to seven days after you sign
this Agreement to revoke it. If you wish to revoke this Agreement after signing it, you may do so by delivering a letter of revocation to me.
If you do not revoke this Agreement, the eighth day after the date you sign it will be the “Effective Date.” Because of the seven-day
revocation period, no part of this Agreement will become effective or enforceable until the Effective Date.

3.

Salary and Vacation Pay. On the Termination Date, the Company paid you $26,057.80, less all applicable withholdings. This amount
represents all of your unpaid salary earned through the Termination Date and all of your accrued but unused vacation time or PTO and
unpaid expenses. You acknowledge that the only payments and benefits that you are entitled to receive from the Company in the future are
those specified in this Agreement.

4.

Severance Pay.
(a)

Pursuant to the terms set forth in your amended and restated employment agreement with the Company effective October 10, 2017,
the Company is obligated to pay you an amount equal to your current base salary for a period of nine months after the Termination
Date in accordance with the Company’s standard payroll procedures, starting after the Effective Date. The aggregate amount of
these severance payments equals $293,906, less all applicable withholdings. However, the Company has determined that it is in its
best interest to pay you such severance payments in a lump sum amount and the full amount of $293,906, less all applicable
withholdings, will be paid to you within 30 days of the Release Deadline. If you breach any provision of this Agreement, you
understand that no unpaid severance payments will be made; however, in such event this Agreement shall remain in full force and
effect.

(b)

Additionally, pursuant to the terms of the Amended and Restated Executive Retention Bonus Plan dated January 25, 2019, you will
be paid an aggregate of $156,750, less applicable withholdings, within 30 days of the Release Deadline.
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5.

COBRA Premiums. You will receive information about your right to continue your group health insurance coverage under the
Consolidated Omnibus Budget Reconciliation Act (“COBRA”) after the Termination Date. In order to continue your coverage, you must
file the required election form. If you sign and do not revoke this Agreement and elect to continue group health insurance coverage, then
the Company will pay the employer portion of the monthly premium under COBRA for you and, if applicable, your dependents until the
earliest of (a) 9 months after the Termination Date, (b) the expiration of your continuation coverage under COBRA or (c) the date when you
receive substantially equivalent health insurance coverage in connection with new employment or self-employment.

6.

Stock Options. The Company granted you options (the “Options”) to purchase up to 421,867 shares of the Company’s Common Stock on
terms and conditions specified in certain Notice of Stock Option Awards and Stock Option Agreements (the “Option Agreements”). As of
the Termination Date, the Options are vested with respect to 239,052 shares. Pursuant to the terms of the Option Agreements, the Options
shall terminate with respect to all unvested shares as of the Termination Date and, unless exercised in accordance with the terms of the
Option Agreements prior to such time, the Options shall terminate with respect to all vested shares on the date that is 90 days after the
Termination Date. You acknowledge and agree that you have no stock or equity rights of any kind in the Company except as described
under this Section 6.

7.

Release of All Claims. In consideration for the severance and COBRA payments described in Paragraphs 4 and 5 above, to the fullest
extent permitted by law, you waive, release and promise never to assert any claims or causes of action, whether or not now known, against
the Company or its predecessors, successors or past, present or future subsidiaries, stockholders, directors, officers, employees, consultants,
attorneys, agents, assigns, insurers and employee benefit plans and their administrators and fiduciaries with respect to any matter, including
(without limitation) any matter related to your employment with the Company or the termination of that employment, including (without
limitation) claims to attorneys’ fees or costs, claims of wrongful discharge, constructive discharge, emotional distress, defamation, invasion
of privacy, fraud, breach of contract (express or implied) or breach of the covenant of good faith and fair dealing, claims of discrimination,
harassment retaliation and/or civil rights, claims relating to wages or compensation, claims under M.G.L. c. 149, §§148 and 150 (also
known as the Massachusetts Wage Act), claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, the Massachusetts Fair Employment
Practices Act, the California Fair Employment and Housing Act, the Age Discrimination in Employment Act of 1967, the Americans with
Disabilities Act and all other laws and regulations relating to employment. However, this release covers only those claims that arose prior
to the execution of this Agreement and only those claims that may be waived by applicable law. Execution of this Agreement does not bar
any claim that arises hereafter, including (without limitation) a claim for breach of this Agreement.
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8.

Waiver. You expressly waive and release any and all rights and benefits under Section 1542 of the California Civil Code (or any
analogous law of any other state), which reads as follows:
A general release does not extend to claims which the creditor does not know or suspect to exist in his or her favor at the time of executing
the release, which if known by him or her must have materially affected his or her settlement with the debtor.

9.

No Admission. Nothing contained in this Agreement will constitute or be treated as an admission by you or the Company of liability, any
wrongdoing or any violation of law.

10.

Other Agreements. At all times in the future, you will remain bound by your Proprietary Information, Inventions and Non-Solicitation
Agreement with the Company, a copy of which is attached as Exhibit A. Except as expressly provided in this Agreement and the
Consulting Agreement, this Agreement renders null and void all prior agreements between you and the Company and constitutes the entire
agreement between you and the Company regarding the subject matter of this Agreement. This Agreement may be modified only in a
written document signed by you and a duly authorized officer of the Company.

11.

Confidentiality of Agreement. You agree that you will not disclose to others the existence or terms of this Agreement, except that you may
disclose such information to your spouse, attorney or tax adviser if such individuals agree that they will not disclose to others the existence
or terms of this Agreement.

12.

No Disparagement. You agree that you will never make any negative or disparaging statements (orally or in writing) about the Company
or its stockholders, directors, officers, employees, products, services or business practices, except as required by law.

13.

Company Property. You represent that you have returned to the Company all property that belongs to the Company, including (without
limitation) copies of documents that belong to the Company and files stored on your computer(s) that contain information belonging to the
Company.

14.

Severability. If any term of this Agreement is held to be invalid, void or unenforceable, the remainder of this Agreement will remain in full
force and effect and will in no way be affected, and the parties will use their best efforts to find an alternate way to achieve the same result.

15.

Choice of Law. This Agreement will be construed and interpreted in accordance with the laws of the Commonwealth of Massachusetts
(other than their choice-of-law provisions).

16.

Execution. This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which will be considered an original, but all of which together will
constitute one agreement. Execution of a facsimile copy will have the same force and effect as execution of an original, and a facsimile
signature will be deemed an original and valid signature.
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Please indicate your agreement with the above terms by signing below.
Very truly yours,
HISTOGENICS CORPORATION
By: /s/ Adam Gridley
Name: Adam Gridley
Title: President and Chief Executive Officer
I agree to the terms of this Agreement, and I am voluntarily signing this release of all claims. I acknowledge that I have read and understand this
Agreement, and I understand that I cannot pursue any of the claims and rights that I have waived in this Agreement at any time in the future.

Signed: /s/ Stephen Kennedy
Stephen Kennedy

Dated: March 19, 2019
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EXHIBIT A
CONSULTING AGREEMENT
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EXHIBIT B
PROPRIETARY INFORMATION, INVENTIONS AND
NON-SOLICITATION AGREEMENT

EXHIBIT 31.1
CERTIFICATION
I, Adam Gridley, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Histogenics Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 15, 2019

/s/ Adam Gridley
Adam Gridley
President
(Principal Executive Officer)

EXHIBIT 31.2
CERTIFICATION
I, Jonathan Lieber, certify that:
1.

I have reviewed this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q of Histogenics Corporation;

2.

Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3.

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4.

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

5.

a.

designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
period in which this report is being prepared;

b.

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c.

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d.

disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting,
to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
a.

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b.

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: May 15,2019

/s/ Jonathan Lieber
Jonathan Lieber
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

EXHIBIT 32.1
Certification
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code),
each of the undersigned officers of Histogenics Corporation (the Company), does hereby certify, to the best of such officer’s knowledge, that:
The Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 (the Form 10-Q) of the Company fully complies with the requirements
of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material
respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.
Date: May 15, 2019

/s/ Adam Gridley
Adam Gridley
President
(Principal Executive Officer)

Date: May 15, 2019

/s/ Jonathan Lieber
Jonathan Lieber
Interim Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial and Accounting Officer)

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and will be retained by the Company and
furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request. This certification “accompanies” the Form 10-Q to which it relates, is
not deemed filed with the SEC and is not to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended,
or the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whether made before or after the date of the Form 10-Q), irrespective of any general incorporation
language contained in such filing.

